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Statement from the Chairman and Chief Executive 

As we write this, like the rest of society, we find ourselves in a new and challenging environment. Across the 
globe almost every individual and organisation is being affected by the COVID-19 virus outbreak and the various 
lock-downs and social distancing measures. For the social sector, this has resulted in a growth in demand for 
many services while sources of income are declining significantly. It is too early to know how the COVID-19 crisis 
will develop over the coming weeks and months, but we are doing whatever is needed to maintain the bank’s 
stability while continuing to support our customers at this critical time of need. While the full impact is still 
uncertain, what remains clear is our commitment to support the social sector during these unprecedented 
times. 

We are the bank ‘of the social sector and for the social sector’. Charity Bank is owned by charities and social 
purpose investors and is dedicated to supporting, mainly through the provision of finance, UK charities and 
social enterprises – a sector sometimes neglected by the mainstream financial sector. In these extraordinary 
times, many of these organisations are particularly in need of our support. We facilitate positive social change 
across a range of critical issues through the support we provide to our borrowers. If social sector organisations 
are to be effective, they must have access to the financial resources they need to hone their strategies and 
deliver their social missions. These organisations have specific financial needs which Charity Bank is ideally 
positioned to meet.  

We bring together investors and savers, who want to see improvements in their communities and the wider 
world, with social sector organisations who are making those changes happen. We’re also helping to change 
the way that people think about their money and how it is used. We offer our depositors more than an ethical 
option; we provide them with the assurance that their savings are only used to support organisations and 
projects that have a positive and intentional social purpose. 

Financial Performance 

2019 feels like a long time ago, but it was a year of milestones for Charity Bank: we started the year with the 
announcement that we had passed the £250m mark in loans made since our inception in 2002; in March, our 
book of drawn loans outstanding surpassed £150m for the first time; in the 2nd quarter, our deposits book 
reached £200m; and, in the 3rd quarter, we made our 1000th loan.  

These growth milestones were punctuated by a very important financial achievement: the net profit we 
generated for the year, both on an operating basis and after mark-to-market gains on our portfolio of liquid 
investments. Operating profit from our core savings and lending business for the 2019 financial year (before 
mark-to-market gains and losses) was £188k vs £207k in 2018. Significant mark-to-market gains of £623k on 
our portfolio of liquid assets during the year led to a sizeable net profit of £811k for 2019, comparing very 
favourably to the net loss of £608k in 2018 brought about by unrealised investment losses of £817k in that year. 

Mark-to-market gains and losses on our portfolio of liquid investments arise from the regulatory and business 
need to hold a certain amount of our assets in liquid investments. We invest these amounts conservatively, in 
high-grade fixed income funds, in order to earn a yield on the funds until such time that they are required by 
the bank for lending and other operations. The price of these funds fluctuates as a result of interest rate 
movements and other market factors and these changes in fund value are accounted for in our financial 
statements. Over the course of 2019, we reduced our holdings in the investment funds that have contributed 
to mark-to-market accounting volatility in recent years. 

We disbursed £50m in new loans in 2019, representing a fifth consecutive year of increased levels of new 
lending. Over the past five years, we have more than tripled our book of drawn loans from £54 million at the 
start of 2015 to £179 million at the end of 2019, an average annual growth rate of 27%. 

Growth in our lending is intended to increase the social impact that our borrowers are able to generate. This 
growth would not be achievable without our depositors – individuals, charities and businesses that choose to 
save and invest to help drive social change. Our deposit book grew by 28% in 2019 to £219 million from £171 
million at the end of 2018. Our biggest area of growth in this respect has been from charities and trusts. The 
product attracting the most attention is our Ethical Easy Access Account, for organisations seeking same-day 
access to their money, which has raised balances of over £39 million since its launch in 2017. 
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Statement from the Chairman and Chief Executive (continued) 

Capital Planning – growing our shareholder base (continued) 

Our balance sheet remains strong with healthy levels of liquidity, solid capital footings and a well-performing 
loan portfolio. Total loan losses to date account for just 0.3% of the total amount of loans drawn down since 
Charity Bank’s inception in 2002 and the vast majority of our lending (over 95% by value) is secured by property 
assets with a weighted average loan-to-value ratio of less than 50% (excluding social housing, renewable and 
unsecured loans). 

In order to sustain our progress and enable us to continue to expand our provision of finance to UK charities 
and social enterprises, we need to ensure that our regulatory capital footings keep up with this growth. 
Accordingly, we began implementing a capital plan during the year, which saw the successful raise of nearly 
£5m in five-year subordinated loan notes structured to satisfy our capacity for Tier 2 capital over the medium 
term. By taking advantage of Community Investment Tax Relief (CITR), we were able to issue these notes at 
favourable coupon of 1% while at the same time enabling eligible investors to enjoy an attractive taxable 
equivalent yield on their investment. We are delighted to welcome these new investors to Charity Bank. 

Our capital campaign is continuing with an effort to raise up to £10m in Common Equity Tier 1 (CET1) capital 
into Charity Bank by expanding our shareholder base. This phase of capital raising began in November with the 
Esmée Fairbairn Foundation converting their £500k loan note into new ordinary shares in Charity Bank. Our 
efforts to grow the community of charitable and social purpose equity investors in Charity Bank will continue 
as we seek to secure funding sufficient to fuel our ongoing growth strategy. A successful raising of this 
investment from a group of aligned social investors will be critical to achieving our potential, including our 
aspiration to become the Challenger Bank for the Sector. 

Strategy and Five-Year Business Plan 

The Strategy and Business Plan for which we are seeking new capital investment was reset during the year 
following intensive review with the senior management team and the board of directors. Our vision and 
ambition for the next five years is very simple: Charity Bank aims to be the lender of choice for impact-led 
organisations, and to double its lending by 2024. We aim to achieve this ambition as follows:  

• Social purpose organisations seeking repayable finance will prefer to borrow from Charity Bank 
because we are fast, efficient and easy to work with. We will be the undisputed service leader amongst 
lenders to the sector.  

• We will strive to continuously improve our processes and transform our digital offering through 
selective investment in technology, starting with the implementation of a new core banking system 
in 2020.  

• We will extend our product offering to serve the unmet demand amongst smaller charities and social 
enterprises for smaller, less secure loans.  

• We will continue to grow our social impact through our lending, with over £350m in loan assets under 
management by 2024, and by influencing the way that people think about their savings and 
investments.  

• We will sustain and grow our profits to enable both dividend payments as well as reinvestment in 
our mission, including a ‘development lending fund’ that enables us to lend to more challenging 
applications without exposing our balance sheet to unacceptable credit risk.  
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Statement from the Chairman and Chief Executive (continued) 

Social Impact 

Charity Bank supports positive social change in a number of ways: by financing charities and social enterprises 
tackling the most important issues facing our society today; through the informal support that we provide to 
our loan applicants which helps make them stronger and more sustainable; and by helping to change the way 
that people think about their savings and how the money they deposit is used. 

Having access to funding is essential for charities and social enterprises: 

• 93% of borrowers who responded to our 2019 impact survey agreed that their Charity Bank loan made 
a major positive contribution to their ability to deliver on their mission;  

• 79% reported that it led to improvements to their client servicing; and,  

• 76% reported that the Charity Bank loan enabled them to increase service provisions. 

Lending 

In 2019 we lent £50 million to 67 different charities and social enterprises. Our loans continue to support social 
change across a range of sectors, with a focus on social housing, health and social care, faith, leisure, education 
and community regeneration. 

Our average approved loan size has continued to decrease, falling by 3% versus 2018 to £841k. We expect to 
see this trend continue as we increase our lending to smaller charities and social enterprises. Our Small Loans 
Programme utilises a streamlined approval process for loan applications under £500k, including a fast-track 
scorecard approach for applications under £250k. Our new strategy envisions continued growth in this segment 
of our lending activity as we focus our efforts on smaller social enterprises where the gap in mainstream finance 
provision is most acute. 

We are striving to increase the efficiency of our lending processes. This year we began implementing many of 
the recommendations of an internal Credit and Banking Task Force which has been looking at ways to improve 
the experience of our loan applicants through increased efficiency, transparency and support. We are optimistic 
this will enhance the service to our borrowers. 

Here are just a few examples of the fantastic social sector organisations that we supported in 2019: 

• Coventry Cyrenians gives people who are homeless the 
support they need to rebuild their lives. It offers a range of 
services, from skills-training and counselling to supported 
accommodation. The charity has taken out two loans with 
Charity Bank. The most recent, for £448k, has enabled 
Coventry Cyrenians to buy 15 flats.  

 

 

• Independent Cinema Office supports cinemas, film 
festivals and exhibitors of all forms and their mission is to 
develop an open, challenging and thriving film sector. 
Charity Bank loaned £875k towards the purchase of an 
office. 
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Statement from the Chairman and Chief Executive (continued) 

Lending (continued) 

• Northease Manor School in Rodmell, near Lewes, is an 
independent school for children aged 8-18 with various 
learning difficulties including high-functioning autism, 
ADHD, dyslexia and dyscalculia. Charity Bank working 
capital loans totalling £460k have funded a plan to improve 
the school over a three-year period. 

 

 

• The Mayfield Trust, based in Calderdale, provides a wide 
range of services to local children and adults with learning 
or physical disabilities and other complex needs. These 
services include supported living, nursing care, day care, 
outreach and an activity centre. The £400k Charity Bank 
loan will enable the charity to redevelop the stables at 
Mayfield House and extend the main house to create 8 
flats for people with learning disabilities. 

 

Non-financial support 

Our local regional managers take the time to understand their customers’ objectives, challenges and unique 
social business models. They also impart a wealth of knowledge and experience and help guide new borrowers 
through the lending process. All the charities and social enterprises polled in our 2019 impact study said their 
Charity Bank loan and our support helped them to deliver their mission. 65% reported their loan had improved 
the way they managed their finances and 78% said their project would not have gone ahead without the loan.  

We are also using our growing stature in the banking and social investment sectors to highlight some of the 
issues the social sector is facing. In 2019 this included hosting seven ‘Road to Growth’ seminars in cities across 
the UK where more than 500 trustees and senior managers from social sector organisations attended.  

Changing the way that people think about their money 

We are helping to change the way that savers think about their money and the power that it can have for 
effecting positive social change. A deposit with Charity Bank is not just an ‘ethical’ option; it is a positive and 
intentional choice that gives our savers the assurance that their funds will only be invested in mission-led 
organisations that are working to bring about essential social change. 
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Statement from the Chairman and Chief Executive (continued) 

Thanks 

2019 saw the retirement of our former Chairman, George Blunden, who stepped down after nine years of 
service. George dutifully supervised Charity Bank during an extraordinary period of transformation and growth, 
leaving it in a much stronger financial position and successfully building its profile in the charity and ethical 
banking spaces. George’s contributions to our success were substantial, and we thank him for all of his hard 
work and support for the Bank. 

We thank the Board and all our staff members for their enthusiasm, hard work and dedication in serving our 
savers and supporting our borrowers, during a year of significant change and growth for Charity Bank and, 
particularly, during the last few difficult weeks.  

We thank our savers and our investors for choosing to support a bank for good and using their money to 
facilitate real and lasting change across the UK. We also look forward to welcoming new partners in 2020 as we 
look to expand our shareholder base. 

Finally, we thank the inspiring charities and social enterprises for whom we exist. It is their work that drives us 
to do more and to do it better. We wish everyone involved with the Charity Bank well during these challenging 
times. 

 

 

 

Alan Hodson     Edward Siegel 
Chairman     Chief Executive  
1st May 2020       
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Strategic Report  

Financial review 

The Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31st December 2019 have been prepared in accordance 
with statutory requirements and comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’) as adopted 
by the EU. Key performance Indicators (’KPIs’) are produced on a monthly basis and are monitored by the 
Executive Committee (’EXCO’). The following table lists the KPI’s for 2018 and 2019.  

 
 

   2019   2018 % Increase/

     £'000     £'000 (Decrease)

Balance sheet

High quality liquid assets 12,241  6,136  99.5% 
As defined under prudential 

regulations

Other investments 38,649  34,646  11.6% Investment of our surplus liquidity

Loans and advances to 

customers before impairments
179,654  142,553  26.0% 

What we are about - support and 

finance for charities

Deposits 218,774  170,930  28.0% 
Funded by private individuals, 

companies and charities

Subordinated loan notes 5,752  1,504  282.4% 
From charitable foundations and 

individuals

Called up share capital 12,373  12,077  2.5%
Contributed by Big Society Capital, 

CAF and other charities and trusts

Total shareholders' funds 21,153  19,763  7.0% 
Representing share capital and 

retained earnings

Balance sheet total assets 249,003  194,095  28.3% 

Total comprehensive profit/(loss) for the year

Net interest income 4,687  3,939  19.0% 

What we earn from lending and 

interest earned after the cost of our 

funds

Other income 1,550  425  264.7% 
Fees and commission income, profit 

on financial assets

Administrative expenses (4,987) (4,792) 4.1% 
Total costs for operating and 

managing the bank

Total comprehensive profit/ 

(loss) for the year
811  (608) (233.4%)

Loan origination and progression

Approvals 68,147  82,995  (17.9%)
Loans approved during the year for 

progression to be drawn down

Committed loans 48,390  44,785  8.0% 

Approved loans on which offers have 

been made to borrowers and are 

available to be drawn
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Strategic Report (continued) 
Financial review (continued) 

 

Charity Bank made a total profit for the year of £0.8 million compared to a loss in 2018 of £0.6 million.  

Charity Bank’s low cost of funds was achieved mainly through deposits received under the Community 
Investment Tax Relief accounts (‘CITR’) scheme, product suite differentiation and shortening of the average 
contractual tenor of non-CITR accounts.  

Balance sheet 

Charity Bank’s gross assets increased by 28.3% (2018: 22.4%) during 2019. 

On the assets side, loans (after impairments) to charities, community groups and social enterprises increased 
by 26.1% (2018: 30.5%), with 72.1% (2018: 73.4%) of the balance sheet being used to make charitable loans. 
We now have a growing pipeline of loans at various stages of our approval and commitment processes and are 
receiving a high level of enquiries. On top of the minimum liquidity reserves that we are required to maintain 
by the Prudential Regulation Authority (the ‘PRA’), we hold a high level of liquid assets to service our expected 
volume of loan commitments and drawn loan assets in 2020.  

With respect to liabilities, our deposits increased during the year, growing by 28.0% in 2019 (2018: 26.7%). 

We have seen a net shortening of the maturity profile of our deposit book. The average residual maturity of 
our term deposits has decreased from seventeen months to thirteen months, reflecting how a greater 
proportion of our CITR deposits and CITR qualifying deposits have been in account for longer; this pattern was 
mirrored by the average notice period reducing from 41 to 28 days, reflecting growth in easy access deposits. 
A more detailed analysis of our deposits is provided in note 18 in the Notes to the Financial Statements. 

The longer-term outlook for our ability to raise deposits to fund the continuing growth in our loans is 
encouraging as the CITR scheme, which enables us to obtain deposits at a low cost to fund our loans, continues 
to be supported by the government. 

Profit and loss 

Our net interest income increased by 19.0% (2018: 18.1%) primarily as a result of the growth in our drawn loan 
portfolio during the year.  

Fee income increased by 30.1% from £395k to £514k (2018: 85.4%).  

On the expenditure side, our administrative expenses, depreciation and amortisation, increased by 6.1% from 
£4.93 million to £5.23 million (2018: 1% decrease). Headcount has been consistent throughout the year. 

There was a £198k impairment charge for loans and non-lending assets (2018: £46k). 

 

 

  

How the numbers relate 2019 2018

Loans to customers as a proportion of balance 

sheet before impairment
72.1% 73.4%

Deposits as a proportion of balance sheet 87.9% 88.1%

Interest yield 3.19% 3.54%

Average cost of funds 0.98% 0.96%

Return on total funds 3.8% (3.1%)
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Strategic Report (continued) 

Loan origination and progression 

Our loan origination activities for the year have decreased from 2018 but have continued to be successful, with 
approvals in the year of £68.1 million, a decrease of 18% on the previous year (2018: £83.0 million, an increase 
of 13.5% on 2017). Our undrawn loan commitments of £48.4 million at 31st December 2019 increased by 8% 
during 2019 (2018: £44.8 million, a decrease of 3.5% on 2017). Such commitments consist of those transactions 
where we have made an offer to the borrower, where we are awaiting for the loan documentation to be 
finalised, or where the available loan amount has not been fully drawn down. 

Stakeholder engagement- a section 172 statement 

Charity Bank is owned by, and committed to supporting, the social sector and its Directors take responsibility 
for promoting its success for the benefit of its shareholders, borrowers, depositors, and staff.  

The bank facilitates positive social change across a range of social and environmental issues through the 
financial support we provide to our charity and social enterprise borrowers. We also aim to change the way 
that people think about their money and how it is used; savers and investors are increasingly attracted by the 
idea of their money being used to support positive social change. 

While we have a straightforward loans and savings business model, our brand, culture, sector knowledge and 
reputation set us apart from other lenders. Decisions are therefore taken by directors for the long term with 
the view to building a sustainable business. Our record shows that charities and social enterprises can be 
responsible borrowers and that our due diligence, support and credit processes are effective. Our goal is to 
continue to build on these strong foundations and to become the lender of choice for impact-led 
organisations in the UK. We aim to make the quality of our products, service and support among the best in 
the banking sector. 

Our staff work with our shareholders, savers and borrowers serving communities across the UK. The directors 
seek to provide a working environment in keeping with our ethical approach so that any actions by the board 
will always consider the interests of our staff, that they continue to be treated fairly and compassionately 
and that we maintain robust policies processes in place to ensure diversity and equality. Staff are regularly 
provided with updates from Senior Management on the performance of the business and its social sector 
engagement through e-mail newsletters and CEO town hall meetings. The Finance Director also provides 
regular all staff briefings so that they are aware of the key financial and economic issues affecting the bank. 
Charity Bank recognises the importance of its staff and ensures the bank’s culture and the morale of its 
employees are considered in decision making committees and through the active engagement of the HR 
function. The bank encourages feedback through surveys and regular open communication sessions with 
senior managers and directors. 

The directors are mindful of our impact on the environment and take positive steps to mitigate the risk of 
climate change through the operation of our business. The bank seeks to manage its relationships with 
suppliers, customers and others with HR, environmental (climate risk) and supplier policies in place which are 
subject to regular review and oversight by board committees. 

With a demonstrated commitment to the social sector and an experienced team of specialists, the directors 
seek to ensure that the company maintains a reputation for high standards of business conduct and that 
regulatory risks and conduct risks are always managed effectively. 

 

  



The Charity Bank Limited ANNUAL REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER 2019 

10 
 

 

Strategic Report (continued) 

Management of Charity Bank 

Unusually for a bank, but in keeping with its former charitable status, Charity Bank’s non-executive members 
of the Board are unpaid. They contribute actively to the oversight of the bank through membership of Board 
committees, supporting and challenging management, and also through direct meetings with customers, 
attending open days and through the arrangements we make for our stakeholders to visit borrowers every 
other year.  

Day-to-day management of Charity Bank is delegated by the Board to the Chief Executive, who is supported by 
the executive management team. 

The Chief Executive and Deputy Chief Executive are Executive Directors. The other members of the 
management team (together forming the EXCO) are also in attendance at Board meetings.  

Committee structure  

Charity Bank is governed by a Board that is empowered to take such steps as are necessary to achieve Charity 
Bank's objectives. These include the making of appropriate arrangements for the sound management of the 
Charity Bank's business, with the overall responsibility for day-to-day management delegated to the Chief 
Executive who is authorised to maintain an appropriate management structure.  

The Board delegates some of its powers to the following committees: 

• Audit Committee: responsible for oversight and challenge of the accounting policies and disclosures; 
supervising the issue and integrity of the audited financial statements of Charity Bank and the 
performance of the external auditors; reviewing and challenging the overall effectiveness of Charity 
Bank’s systems, processes and controls; overseeing whistleblowing arrangements; and monitoring the 
performance and reports of the internal audit function. 

• Governance Committee: responsible for overseeing good Board and Board committee governance; 
reviewing succession-planning, nominations and the skills mix of non-executive Board members and 
senior executives; and approving remuneration of the executive management and the reward policy 
for other members of staff. 

• Risk Committee: responsible for the oversight of risk management systems, policies and procedures; 
monitoring the operation of the risk management framework; reviewing key risks; overseeing and 
challenging liquidity and capital adequacy (including regulatory documents such as the Internal Capital 
Adequacy Assessment Process (’ICAAP’) and the Internal Liquidity Adequacy Assessment Process 
(’ILAAP’); recommending the setting of risk appetite statements to the Board; approving credit, 
liquidity, market (interest rate) risk and operational risk policies; monitoring financial crime and 
regulatory risks; and setting policy on asset and liability management, interest rate risk and exposures 
to financial counterparties; and for monitoring the work of the Assets and Liabilities Committee 
(‘ALCO’). 

The Chief Executive oversees the day-to-day management of Charity Bank with the support of the EXCO, which 
is chaired by the Chief Executive. Its members currently consist of the Deputy Chief Executive and Chief Risk 
Officer, the Director of Lending, the Finance Director and the Director of Credit, with the General Counsel and 
Company Secretary in attendance. EXCO meets at least fortnightly, or as required. 
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Strategic Report (continued) 

Principal risks and uncertainties 

The Board recognises that Charity Bank’s concentration of lending activities in one sector, its standing as a 
mission-led enterprise and the standards expected of such an entity, and its small size give rise to inherent risk 
and the need to maintain close vigilance over its activities. 

The going concern and Charity Bank’s view on the effects of COVID-19 are disclosed in the Directors’ Report, 
page 19-21. 

The Board takes the view that Charity Bank’s principal risks and uncertainties lie in its exposures to: 

• uncertainties in the political and economic environment for the social sector and changes in the 
government’s approach to social policy; 

• credit risk and the concentration risks of that exposure in one sector, with resulting lack of portfolio 
diversification; 

• liquidity risk, particularly the need to fund increases in the loan book with more capital and deposits 
from savers and the mismatch between the tenor of loans and the maturity of its deposits; 

• interest rate mismatches on its assets and liabilities; 

• capital risk; to meet its minimum regulatory capital requirements and to support its future growth 
plans; and 

• operational risk, particularly in the form of IT & cyber risks, operational resilience, and the key person 
dependencies arising from its small size. 

These risks are mitigated in various ways as set out below. 

Political and economic environment risk (including Brexit) 

An adverse impact from continuing political and economic uncertainty on the bank and social sectors remains 
a risk. Demand for new loans from social sector organisations is holding up despite a lack of clarity in 
government policy on funding projected shortfalls in health, housing and social care budgets. 

Charity Bank Risk Committee and Board have also considered the potential impact of Brexit on its operations. 
As a UK based organisation offering savings and loans accounts to UK resident individuals and organisations, 
Charity Bank’s operational model is not considered to be affected directly by Brexit. It is recognised, however, 
that Charity Bank may experience impacts to its business performance resulting from changes to the wider UK 
political and economic environment arising from Brexit which may affect the behaviour and performance of its 
savers and borrowers. Such economic stresses are modelled and assessed in the capital and liquidity adequacy 
assessments described below. 

Credit risk and concentration risk 

Charity Bank has in place a system to control its exposure to credit risk, including the taking on of new loans in 
line with its Credit Risk Policy and the reporting on and monitoring of its exposure to the risk of financial loss 
from the incidence of credit risk. The setting of credit risk policy is delegated to the Risk Committee in 
accordance with the risk appetite set by the Board. New loans are approved by the Internal Credit Committee 
or members of the Credit Department in accordance with their delegated authority limits. The Risk Committee, 
the Internal Credit Committee and the Director of Credit, monitors the quality of the loan portfolio and any 
concentrations of risk and trends; reviews the quality of existing loans whose value is impaired or loans where 
a payment has not been received on its due date from the borrower; and considers related reports and 
management information. 

All loan applications are assessed with reference to Charity Bank’s Credit Risk Appetite and Credit Risk Policy, 
including the use of an internal credit grading model. Wherever possible, Charity Bank takes security in the 
form of a legal charge over fixed property assets of the borrower. In most cases, the secured assets are freehold 
or long-term leasehold property. Credit risk is also managed through continuous engagement with borrowers. 
Charity Bank maintains an ‘ECL’ loan loss impairment for unidentified credit risks as well as specific impairments 
against loans where it is doubtful of recovering the full amount outstanding. The impairment methodology and 
key assumptions are reviewed annually by the Risk Committee and Audit Committee. There have been no 
material changes in the Credit Risk Appetite or Credit Risk Policy during the year. 
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Strategic Report (continued) 

Credit risk and concentration risk (continued) 

The estimation of credit exposure for risk management purposes is complex and requires the use of models, 
as the exposure varies with changes in market conditions, expected cash flows and the passage of time. The 
assessment of credit risk of a portfolio of assets requires further estimations as to the likelihood of defaults 
and losses occurring. Charity Bank measures credit risk using Probability of Default (‘PD’), Exposure at Default 
(‘EAD’) and Loss Given Default (‘LGD’).  

Charity Bank uses internal credit risk gradings that reflect its assessment of the probability of default of 
individual counterparties. The credit grades are calibrated such that the risk of default increases as the credit 
risk (credit grade) increases. The credit score is reviewed annually and compared to the credit score at sanction 
(or 31 December 2015, whichever is later) in assessing whether a significant increase in credit risk has occurred. 

For the financial assets, any credit risk exposure is mitigated by the high degree of internal diversification within 
any fund and could be mitigated further at an early point by selling out of the relevant fund.  

Open Ended Investment Vehicles (‘OEIV’) are in the form of units in the Royal London Asset Management’s 
‘Cash Plus Fund’ and ‘Enhanced Cash Plus Fund’ (which invests in cash, deposits, money market instruments 
and short-dated government securities). UK Government stock and other approved investments are held 
within Charity Bank’s HQLAs. 

OEIV can be with a range of counterparties approved by the ALCO under a framework approved by the Risk 
Committee. Each counterparty has a credit limit as a percentage of capital and based on a combination of the 
tenor and the counterparty credit rating as assessed by well-established rating agencies and tempered by 
management knowledge and soundings. Charity Bank follows a low risk policy in relation to its treasury 
activities and places funds only with counterparties with sound external credit ratings.  

The Risk Committee regularly reviews Charity Bank’s exposure to credit risks and its system of internal control.  

Charity Bank is exposed to concentration risk from its remit to lend to social sector organisations (‘SSOs’). 

Charity Bank’s exposure to this risk is mitigated in a number of ways, including: 

• utilising sector expertise and relevant experience through its staff, its Board members and its advisers; 

• ensuring that all lessons drawn from any loss experience have been incorporated in its credit policy; 
and 

• diversification of exposure within the sector. 

As a result of its understanding of SSOs, Charity Bank expects that both the probability of defaults and the size 
of any related losses incurred on its portfolio will continue to be lower than in the wider small and medium-
sized enterprise (’SME’) sector. 

In pursuit of this goal, Charity Bank: 

• sets limits on its exposure to its top twenty borrowers as a proportion of its loan book and regulatory 
capital, limits on its aggregate exposure to individual sectors, and a single borrower limit set in relation 
to its regulatory capital; and 

• makes its credit decisions primarily on the basis of the ability of its borrowers to repay; it also generally 
requires security over related real estate assets as a secondary source of repayment. 

• As a result of its expertise in and understanding of SSOs, its cautious stance on the maximum ratio of 
the amount of its loan to the value of the related security, and the low volume of unsecured lending 
that it has undertaken, the credit quality of Charity Bank’s loan exposures has remained stable and 
performed well. 

• The Board expects this outcome to continue in future in light of Charity Bank’s system of internal 
control for managing credit risk.  
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Strategic Report (continued) 

Liquidity risk  

Liquidity risk is the risk that Charity Bank do not have adequate financial resources, both as to amount and 
quality, to ensure that there is no significant risk that its liabilities cannot be met as they fall due. 

Charity Bank is exposed to the risk of not being able to raise sufficient deposits to fund its growing loan book 
or to meet an unexpectedly high level of deposit withdrawals by customers. This is mitigated by: 

• seeking to maintain a prudent balance of deposits with different maturities by offering term and notice 
deposit products at the correct price; and 

• attracting personal depositors, charities and clubs, Credit Union and business depositors who are more 
likely to keep their deposits with the bank when they reach maturity (evidenced by the current 79% 
retention rate). 

The ILAAP is a firm’s own internal assessment which evaluates liquidity risk, funding mismatch and the 
management of these risks within Charity Bank. 

The Risk Committee sets and reviews Charity Bank’s appetite for liquidity risk in a liquidity policy and advises 
the Board accordingly. The expression of appetite and capacity is translated into limits, thresholds and other 
indicators, for example, monitoring a worst-case asset/liability maturity profile. These take into account 
liquidity levels (including short-term cash flow forecasting), and threats to stakeholder value and reputation. 
Appetite is also a determinant in corporate planning and identifying future liquidity requirements.  

Management oversight of liquidity risk is undertaken through ALCO which is responsible for assisting the 
Finance Director to manage financial risks; recommending policies on the investment of capital and liquid 
resources to the Risk Committee; reviewing exposures to interest rate risk and financial counterparty risk; and 
monitoring that management of liquidity and capital meets business and regulatory requirements. 

Risk management and mitigation arrangements are in place through reporting Charity Bank’s exposure to 
liquidity risks by means of key performance indicators in management information packs for the Board and 
through regular monitoring by the Risk Committee of Charity Bank’s risk profile. 

Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk refers to the current or prospective risk to a bank’s capital and earnings arising from adverse 
movements in interest rates, which affect exposures in its banking book. 

The Risk Committee sets and reviews Charity Bank’s appetite for interest rate risk and articulates this through 
a policy on Interest Rate Risk in the Banking Book (‘IRRBB’). The Finance Director is responsible for this policy 
and the Risk Committee approves it on behalf of the Board. 

The expression of appetite for each type of interest rate risk is translated into appropriate limits and thresholds 
by the ALCO for review and approval by the Risk Committee. 

Day-to-day management oversight of interest rate risk is undertaken through the ALCO.  

EXCO has responsibility for:  

• ensuring that Charity Bank offers the appropriate type and mix of loans and deposits products to its 
customers; and, 

• setting interest rates on Charity Bank’s loans, deposits and loan notes.  

When making decisions in respect of these responsibilities, EXCO considers the impact on Charity Bank’s 
exposure to interest rate risk. 
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Strategic Report (continued) 

Interest rate risk (continued) 

Risk management and mitigation arrangements are in place through reporting Charity Bank’s exposure to 
interest rate risk by means of key performance indicators in management information packs for the Board and 
through regular monitoring by the Risk Committee of Charity Bank’s risk profile. 

Charity Bank reduces its exposure to interest rate risk by actively managing the maturity buckets of its assets 
and liabilities. In addition, in managing interest rate risks Charity Bank considers the economic impact on its 
capital of a range of non-parallel shift in interest rates and the capacity of its capital to support a range of 
extreme interest rate and balance sheet structural stresses. 

Capital risk 

Capital requirements 

Charity Bank is required to hold sufficient capital to meet its minimum regulatory capital requirements at all 
times; and it expects to hold such further amounts to support its growth plans, enable it to withstand adverse 
stress scenarios and continue to meet its Total Capital Requirement (‘TCR’) from the PRA, and provide comfort 
on its resilience to depositors, borrowers, shareholders and other key stakeholders. 

Capital regulatory framework 

Charity Bank operates under the CRD IV CRR regulatory framework of the European Banking Authority (the 
‘EBA’) as required by its regulators: the FCA and the PRA. 

The prudential regulatory framework applicable to Charity Bank is designed to assess the adequacy of a firm’s 
‘own funds’ (‘Capital Resources’) by considering all material risks to its business, including those not covered 
or otherwise not adequately addressed by credit risk, market risk and operational risk, and the impact of stress 
tests conducted across a variety of different scenarios. Additionally, the regulatory requirements for assessing 
additional risks provide encouragement to firms to develop, operate and continuously improve their risk 
management techniques for monitoring, measuring and managing their specific material risks. 

Charity Bank’s Capital Resources requirement is split into two categories: the Pillar 1 Capital Resources 
Requirement (‘Pillar 1’) being the sum of the credit risk capital requirement, the market risk capital 
requirement and the operational risk capital requirement; and the Pillar 2 Capital Resources Requirement 
(‘Pillar 2A and Pillar 2B’) which includes assessments for liquidity risk, concentration risk, earnings risk, interest 
rate risk, business risk, buffer requirements and an internal view of the effect of selected stress events. 

There are two stages to determining the final level of Pillar 2: the first being the analysis and conclusions in 
Charity Bank’s own ICAAP assessment, and the second being the PRA’s expression of its view which takes 
account of its oversight of Charity Bank and the results of its supervisory review meetings with Charity Bank. 

The ICAAP is a firm’s own internal assessment of the overall adequacy of its capital strength in the context of 
the material risks it has identified and of the outcome of the assessment of stress scenarios it has identified 
and quantified taking into account regulatory guidance. The ICAAP process also includes the identification and 
evaluation of the impact of appropriate stress conditions, which are sets of sensitivities and scenarios designed 
to show the ability of Charity Bank to continue to meet its capital requirements under adverse (firm-specific 
and/or market-wide) conditions. 

A review meeting is part of a regular supervisory review and evaluation process conducted by the PRA in order 
both to review and evaluate a firm’s ICAAP processes and documentation, and to assess the quality of the 
firm’s risk management systems and internal controls. Based on this, the PRA makes its own determination of 
the capital adequacy of the firm and sets a minimum capital requirement for the firm through the issue of its 
‘total capital requirement’. 
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Strategic Report (continued) 

Capital risk (continued) 

Capital regulatory framework (continued) 

Pillar 1 

The Pillar 1 capital requirement is the sum of the credit risk capital requirement, market risk capital 
requirement and the operational risk capital requirement. Under Pillar 1 Charity Bank calculates its credit risk 
requirement using the ‘standardised approach’ and its operational risk requirement in accordance with ‘the 
basic indicator approach’. Under CRD IV, Charity Bank must hold total capital equal to 8% of its total risk-
weighted assets to cover its Pillar 1 capital requirements.  

Pillar 2A  

The Pillar 2A capital requirement is set by the PRA as part of its supervisory review and evaluation process and 
covers additional risks not deemed to be included appropriately within the Pillar 1 capital requirement.  

Charity Bank’s internal assessment of its Pillar 2A capital requirement includes assessments for liquidity risk, 
concentration risk, interest rate risk in the non-trading book and business risk. 

Pillar 2B 

The Pillar 2B capital requirement reflects the amount of additional capital required under the Combined Buffer 
Requirement (being the aggregate of the Capital Conservation Buffer and the Countercyclical Capital Buffer) in 
addition to a further individual buffer set by the PRA. 

Pillar 2B also includes an internal assessment of capital stresses, which articulates Charity Bank’s own view of 
the potential impact on its capital of varying stress events.  

Further details of Charity Bank’s capital requirements and resources are provided in note 27 in the Notes to 
the Financial Statements and also in annual Pillar 3 public disclosures which are available on our website at: 
www.charitybank.org 

Climate risk 

The Board recognises the significant impact that climate change could have on the economic and political 
landscape and seeks to ensure that financial risks arising from climate change are considered in its 
governance arrangements, risk management policies, scenario analysis and disclosure arrangements. 

As an ethical bank, Charity Bank is mindful of its own impact on the environment and takes positive steps to 
mitigate climate change through the operation of its head office (recycling arrangements, use of local 
suppliers, etc) and its staff travel arrangements (encouraging use of public transport). As a tenant in a multi 
occupied building it is not practicable for the bank to obtain or provide details of the greenhouse gas 
emissions from its operations, although it seeks to minimise its own footprint by sourcing electricity from a 
green energy provider. The environmental policy encourages staff to consider such risks that are within its 
control in its day to day business activities and its supplier selection processes. 

Charity Bank will, through its lending business, seek to be supportive of borrowers’ climate change mitigation 
activities where it is consistent with the bank’s social impact objectives and its credit policies. In terms of 
Responsible Investment, Charity Bank is aware of the need to consider Environmental, Social and Governance 
issues and that, where practical given Charity Bank’s size, these are considered alongside traditional financial 
measures in investment decision- making.  

 
 
 
 
 
 

http://www.charitybank.org/
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Strategic Report (continued) 

Key person dependencies 

While its exposure is mitigated by Charity Bank’s business model, the identification of staff with its mission, its 
supportive internal culture, and a strengthened focus of management on communication and transparency in 
staff relations, this risk will continue to be a challenge for a bank of its size. Hence Charity Bank draws on 
approved contract staff as well as specialist advice from external parties to supplement its own resources from 
time to time; it can and does recruit new staff from the wider financial services industry and in doing so can 
benefit from the appeal of its mission. 

Approved by the Board of Directors on 1st May 2020 and signed on its behalf. 

 

 

 

 

Alan Hodson 
Chairman 
The Charity Bank Limited 
182 High Street 
Tonbridge 
Kent TN9 1BE 
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Directors’ Report 

Introduction 
Charity Bank is authorised by the PRA as a deposit-taking institution under the Financial Services and Markets 
Act 2000 (as amended by the Financial Services Act 2012), and is regulated by the FCA and the PRA. It was 
established in 2002 with a mission to lend to charities, community organisations and social enterprises, and in 
particular to those that find it difficult to secure funding from the traditional banking sector, with the support 
of investors and depositors who want to encourage more responsible and transparent use of their money. 

Charity Bank uses financial leverage to create social leverage in the community. Since 2002, Charity Bank’s 
innovative approach to lending and its mission to benefit society have enabled it to lend over £300 million 
worth of loans to hundreds of social sector organisations across the UK with Charity Bank operating solely in 
the UK. It has well-established processes and controls over both the advancing of loans and the taking of 
deposits developed by its executive management team under the strategic direction of its board of Directors 
(the ‘Board’). 

Charity Bank has experienced a low rate of loss on its loans since its foundation. 

Given the stresses being faced by the social sector, Charity Bank continues to exercise close vigilance over the 
quality of exposures within its existing portfolio. 

The Board believes that the combination of the increased demand on social sector services and reduction in 
public funding will create a sustainable pipeline of loan demand for Charity Bank from enterprises throughout 
the UK. The Board is confident that Charity Bank is well-placed to respond to this demand, given its track-record 
of innovation, its public reputation, and its growing strength as an institution. 

This Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31st December 2019 have been prepared in 
accordance with statutory requirements and Charity Bank’s Articles of Association and comply with IFRS as 
adopted by the EU. 

Share capital, reserves and dividends 

As at the Balance Sheet date, Charity Bank had issued 24,745,125 ordinary shares; it also has the ability to issue 
additional ordinary shares and ‘B’ and ‘C’ preference shares, all of £0.50 each. 

Although the Articles of Association permit payment of a dividend to shareholders at the discretion of the 
Board of Directors, no dividend has been declared (2018: £nil). 

Substantial shareholdings 

As at 31st December 2019 Charity Bank was aware of the following substantial holdings in its ordinary share 
capital: 

 

Shareholder name

Ordinary 

shares

Percentage of 

issued ordinary 

share capital

Percentage 

of voting 

rights

The Big Society Capital Limited 15,782,935 63.78% 49.99%

CAF Nominees Ltd - beneficial owner Charities Aid Foundation 4,000,011 16.16% 22.32%
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Directors’ Report (continued) 

Directors  

The names of the Directors who served during the year and at the date of this report are as follows: 

 

Two shareholders are entitled to nominate Non-Executive Directors for appointment to the Board under the 
agreements Charity Bank entered into in relation to the making of the investment by Big Society Capital in its 
ordinary shares. These individuals are defined in our Articles of Association as ‘Connected Directors’. 

Statement of directors' responsibilities in respect of the financial statements 

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance with 
applicable law and regulation. 

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the 
directors have prepared the financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union. Under company law the directors must not approve the 
financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the 
company and of the profit or loss of the company for that period. In preparing the financial statements, the 
directors are required to: 

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently; 

• state whether applicable IFRSs as adopted by the European Union have been followed, subject to 
any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements; 

• make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and 

• prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume 
that the company will continue in business. 

The directors are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the company and hence for taking reasonable 
steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain 
the company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the 
company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. 

 

 

Name of Director Chair and Senior Independent Director positions held

George Blunden Chairman of the Board (to 15th May 2019) 4/4

Alan Hodson Chairman of the Board (from 15th May 2019) 7/7

Robin Budenberg CBE Senior Independent Director & Chairman of the 

Governance Committee

10/10

Michael Crabb Chairman of the Credit Sub-Committee 9/10

Malcolm Elliott Executive Director 10/10

David Godfrey CBE Chairman of the Risk Committee 8/10

Sara Llewellin Non-Executive Director 6/10

Sir John Low CBE CAF-Connected Non-Executive Director 9/10

Kate Sayer Chair of the Audit Committee 8/10

Anna Shiel BSC-Connected Non-Executive Director 10/10

Edward Siegel Executive Director 10/10

Toby Walter BSC-Connected Non-Executive Director 9/10

No. of meetings 

attended during 
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Directors’ Report (continued) 

Statement of directors' responsibilities in respect of the financial statements (continued) 

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the company’s website. Legislation in the 
United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from 
legislation in other jurisdictions.  

Directors’ confirmations 

The directors consider that the annual report and financial statements, taken as a whole, is fair, balanced and 
understandable and provides the information necessary for shareholders to assess the company’s position and 
performance, business model and strategy. 

In the case of each director in office at the date the Directors’ Report is approved: 

• so far as the director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the company’s auditors 
are unaware; and 

• they have taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a director in order to make themselves 
aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the company’s auditors are aware of 
that information.  

Going concern 

Charity Bank has adopted the going concern basis for preparing its financial statements. In reaching this 
conclusion the Directors have prepared and considered detailed profit & loss, balance sheet and cash flow 
projections for a twelve-month period from the date of approval of the accounts and assessed the underlying 
assumptions. These projections have been updated to reflect key developments such as changes in the UK base 
rate, the changes in regulatory requirements and the government support packages announced to date. The 
potential effect of changes in key assumptions and the associated stress testing has been taken into account.  

These stress tests include: 

• Liquidity stresses based on the ILAAP; and 

• Capital stresses based on those in the ICAAP and additional stresses in relation to forecast business 
volumes and associated profit and loss impact. 

The Directors have also taken into account the size and nature of the social sector finance market, Charity 
Bank’s market share, and economic, political and other factors which might cause the market to change. The 
Directors have also considered Charity Bank’s exposure to operational risks. 

In making the going concern statement the Directors accept that the projections are particularly difficult to 
predict due to COVID-19 but are satisfied that the statement stands as: 

• Liquidity is being monitored closely and there are no signs of any pressure in the short term. 

• We are in regular dialogue with prospective borrowers and are encouraged by the status our loans 
pipeline, when lock-down is reduced or removed. 

• Stress testing has been considered. 

• Charity Bank has strong relationships with both our customers and our stakeholders. 

The Directors have evaluated the potential impact from COVID-19 and a table summarising the assessment 
undertaken by management and the Board is shown below. 

 

 

 

 

 



The Charity Bank Limited ANNUAL REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER 2019 

20 
 

 

Directors’ Report (continued) 

Going concern (continued) 
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Directors’ Report (continued) 

Going concern (continued) 

 

Internal control 

The Board of Directors manages the risks to which Charity Bank is exposed through a system of internal controls 
that has the following main elements: 

• the setting of policies by the Board for the key activities of the bank and its management of risks, and 
the review and oversight by the Board of the practices of the executive management team in applying 
them; 

• the delegation of authority by the Board to its Committees and to the Chief Executive; 

• an internal organisational structure characterised by functional separation of activities and decision-
making; 

• executive decision-making through EXCO chaired by the Chief Executive, the Internal Credit 
Committee chaired by the Director of Credit, and ALCO chaired by the Finance Director; 

• the appointment of staff who have the requisite skills, experience and integrity; who are supported by 
the provision of access to training where necessary, well-designed IT systems and process manuals, 
and a sound system of performance management; and who are overseen by competent senior staff; 

• the issue of operations manuals which set out all key procedures and approval authorities, including a 
credit risk policy and lending manual which prescribes the procedures for making loans; 

• the allocation of responsibility for compliance with applicable laws and regulations to designated 
individuals and in accordance with the requirements of the FCA and the PRA; 

• disaster recovery and business interruption plans and arrangements, cyber security controls, and daily 
back-up of data from the bank’s accounting and other systems; 

• the regular and timely provision of management information to EXCO and to the Board in a form that 
is consistent with good practice in the finance industry; and 

• the issue of staff policies and procedures. 

 

 



The Charity Bank Limited ANNUAL REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER 2019 

22 
 

 

Directors’ Report (continued) 

Internal control (continued) 

Charity Bank uses a ‘three lines of defence’ model adapted to be proportional to the nature and scale of its 
business. In this context: 

• managers within the business have primary ‘first line’ responsibility for the day to day management 
of risk; 

• a ‘second line of defence’ is provided by the Compliance and Risk function, overseen by the Deputy 
Chief Executive in his capacity as Chief Risk Officer and Compliance Officer: where appropriate, line 
management and staff expertise are used to monitor and assess risk; and 

• the ‘third line of defence’ is provided by the Internal Audit function, which has responsibility for 
providing independent assurance over the risk management and business processes. 

The Board and its Committees, and the management team and its committees, provide oversight and challenge 
across all three lines of defence. 

Risk management policy 

Charity Bank considers risk under three broad categories: 

• Strategic risk: the risks arising from either the external environment serving to prevent the bank 
realising its strategy, or internally from a poor choice or execution of strategy. 

• Financial risk: the credit, liquidity and interest rate the bank takes in its activities or transactions to 
drive the bank’s financial performance (see pages 11 to 14).  

• Operational risk: the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and 
systems or from external events, and including the incidence of legal risk. 

The Risk Management Policy provides a framework for ensuring that risks that could have a significant adverse 
impact on the ability of Charity Bank to meet its objectives are identified, measured, quantified where possible, 
monitored, managed and reported. 

This policy sets out Charity Bank’s risk management system which incorporates: 

• a risk management strategy; 

• risk policies; 

• risk appetite framework; 

• risk measurement and quantification; 

• risk processes which enable it to identify, assess, manage, monitor and report the risks it is or to which 
it might be exposed; 

• risk reporting to the Board and to its Committees; and 

• specified roles and responsibilities held by staff. 

This policy is intended to support appropriate management of risk exposures and that is proportionate to the 
nature, scale and complexity of the risks faced by Charity Bank. 

Charity Bank’s risk management framework is key to the assessment by the Board of Charity Bank’s capital 
adequacy requirements in its ICAAP and of its exposure to liquidity risk as evaluated in its ILAAP which are 
prepared in light of its business plans and the risks it faces. 

Investment powers, policies and performance 

Charity Bank seeks to maintain a sufficient level of available liquidity that will enable it to repay maturing 
deposits as they fall due and to meet drawdowns on loan commitments as they arise. 

The Board has specified Charity Bank’s investment risk appetite and delegated the task of overseeing the 
policies implementing this appetite to the Risk Committee. 

Charity Bank continues to comply with the regulatory requirement to hold a minimum level of investments in 
assets that qualify as High Quality Liquid Assets (‘HQLAs’), which are selected and managed by Royal London 
Asset Management (‘RLAM’) on behalf of Charity Bank. 
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Directors’ Report (continued) 

Investment powers, policies and performance (continued) 

Surplus amounts above this minimum level are deposited with banking counterparties at various tenors or 
invested in selected funds managed by RLAM.  

Investment criteria set by Charity Bank guide the investment of its funds by RLAM; these continue to follow 
the conservative approach adopted in the past in terms of liquidity, eligible counterparties, maturities and 
products in which such surplus funds can be invested. 

A table summarising responsibilities for different aspects of liquidity management is provided below. 

 

 

Public disclosure 

Details of Charity Bank’s Pillar 3 public disclosure document can be obtained from its registered office or viewed 
on the website www.charitybank.org 

Directors’ indemnity 

Charity Bank has qualifying third party indemnity provisions in its Articles of Association for the benefit of its 
Directors during the year and these remain in force at the date of this report. 

Equal opportunity and diversity 

Charity Bank is committed to ensuring that all employees, job applicants and workers are treated fairly in an 
environment which is free from any form of discrimination with regard to all nine of the protected 
characteristics as outlined by the Equality Act 2010: age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil 
partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race (which include colour, nationality and ethnic origins), religion and 
or belief, sex and sexual orientation.  

The bank aims to ensure equality of opportunity to all and to provide employees with the opportunity to 
develop and realise their full potential. The bank values diversity and is committed to eliminating unlawful and 
unfair discrimination. Appointment will always be on merit, within relevant legislative and statutory 
obligations.  

Political and charitable donations 

Charity Bank made no political donations this year (2018 – £nil). Charitable donations of £330 (2018: £nil) were 
made during the year.  

Employee and other stakeholders involvement 

More information regarding employee and other stakeholder involvement with Charity Bank can be found in 
the strategic report (see page 9). 

Policy Day-to-day management

Liquidity investments Finance Team

Cash at bank
Cash funds  management i s  

performed by the Finance Team

Loans receivable Credit Team

Deposits (under the CITR 

scheme)

Deposits (other)

Liquidity management
Risk appeti te i s  set by Board and the pol icies  

are set by the Risk Committee
Finance Team

LIQUIDITY

LIABILITIES

SUMMARY OF RESPONSIBILITY FOR OVERSIGHT OF LIQUIDITY MANAGEMENT

ASSETS

Risk appeti te i s  set by Board and the pol icies  

are set by the Risk Committee

Risk appeti te i s  set by Board and the pol icies  

are set by the Risk Committee

Head of Savings  and the 

Customer Services  Team

http://www.charitybank.org/


The Charity Bank Limited ANNUAL REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER 2019 

24 
 

 

Directors’ Report (continued) 

Disclosure of information to auditors 

As far as each of the Directors is aware, at the date when this report was approved: 

• there is no relevant audit information (as defined in the Companies Act 2006) of which the company’s 
auditor is unaware; and 

• each of the Directors has taken all the steps they ought to have taken as a Director to become aware 
of any relevant audit information (as defined) and to establish that the company’s auditor is aware of 
that information. 

• This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of section 418 
of the Companies Act 2006. 

During 2018 an audit tender process was undertaken and it was agreed PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (‘PWC’) 
would provide the external audit service to Charity Bank. PWC has expressed its willingness to continue in 
office as auditors and a resolution to reappoint it will be proposed at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting. 

 

Approved by the Board of Directors on 1st May 2020 and signed on its behalf. 

 

 

 

 

Alan Hodson 
Chairman 
182 High Street, 
Tonbridge 
Kent TN9 1BE
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Independent auditors’ report to the members of The 
Charity Bank Limited 

Report on the audit of the financial statements 

Opinion 

In our opinion, The Charity Bank Limited’s financial statements: 

● give a true and fair view of the state of the company’s affairs as at 31 December 2019 and of its profit and 

cash flows for the year then ended; 

● have been properly prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as 

adopted by the European Union; and 

● have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006. 

We have audited the financial statements, included within the Annual Report, which comprise: the balance sheet as at 
31 December 2019; the statement of comprehensive income, the cash flow statement, the statement of changes in 
equity for the year then ended; and the notes to the financial statements, which include a description of the significant 
accounting policies. 

Our opinion is consistent with our reporting to the Audit Committee. 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs (UK)”) and applicable 
law. Our responsibilities under ISAs (UK) are further described in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the 
financial statements section of our report. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Independence 

We remained independent of the company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit 
of the financial statements in the UK, which includes the FRC’s Ethical Standard, as applicable to public interest 
entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 

To the best of our knowledge and belief, we declare that non-audit services prohibited by the FRC’s Ethical Standard 
were not provided to the company. 

Other than those disclosed in note 9 to the financial statements, we have provided no non-audit services to the 
company in the period from 1 January 2019 to 31 December 2019. 

Our audit approach 

Context 

This is our first year as auditors. 
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Overview 

 

 

● Overall materiality: £211,500, based on 1% of Net Assets. 

● The scope of our audit and the nature, timing and extent of audit procedures  

performed were determined by our risk assessment. 

● We performed audit procedures over relevant business activities of the Bank, using  

the materiality levels set out above. 

● Determination of expected credit loss allowances. 

● Potential impact of Covid-19. 
 

The scope of our audit 

As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement in the 
financial statements.  

Capability of the audit in detecting irregularities, including fraud 

Based on our understanding of the company and industry, we identified that the principal risks of non-compliance 
with laws and regulations related to breaches of the rules of the Financial Conduct Authority, Prudential Regulatory 
Authority, UK tax legislation and equivalent laws and regulations applicable to the Bank, and we considered the extent 
to which non-compliance might have a material effect on the financial statements. We also considered those laws and 
regulations that have a direct impact on the financial statements such as the Companies Act 2006, and we considered 
the extent to which non-compliance might have a material effect on the financial statements. We evaluated 
management’s incentives and opportunities for fraudulent manipulation of the financial statements (including the risk 
of override of controls), and determined that the principal risks were related to posting inappropriate journals, and 
management bias through judgments and assumptions in significant accounting estimates. Audit procedures 
performed by the engagement team included: 

● Making enquiries of management and those charged with governance in relation to known or suspected 

instances of non-compliance with laws and regulation and fraud; 

● Reviewing key correspondence with the Financial Conduct Authority and Prudential Regulation 

Authority; 

● Challenging assumptions and judgments made by management in their significant accounting estimates, 

in particular in relation to the impairment of loans and advances (see related key audit matter below); 

● Identifying and testing journal entries, in particular any journal entries posted by senior management or 

with unusual account combinations; and 

● Incorporating unpredictability into the nature, timing and/or extent of our testing. 

There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures described above and the further removed non-compliance with 
laws and regulations is from the events and transactions reflected in the financial statements, the less likely we would 
become aware of it. Also, the risk of not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not 
detecting one resulting from error, as fraud may involve deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery or intentional 
misrepresentations, or through collusion. 

Key audit matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in the auditors’ professional judgment, were of most significance in the audit 
of the financial statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material 
misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) identified by the auditors, including those which had the greatest effect 
on: the overall audit strategy; the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement 
team. These matters, and any comments we make on the results of our procedures thereon, were addressed in the 
context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide 
a separate opinion on these matters. This is not a complete list of all risks identified by our audit. 
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

Determination of expected credit loss allowances 

Refer to Note 1 - Accounting policies; Note 13 - Loans 
and advances to customers; Note 24 - Impairment 
charge; and Note 27 - Financial risk management 

This is the second year where the impairment provision 

has been reported under the requirements of IFRS 9. 

Impairment provisions represent management’s best 

estimate of expected credit loss (‘ECL’) within each 

portfolio at the balance sheet date. The identification and 

the determination of provisions is inherently 

judgemental. 

 

Under IFRS 9 management is required to determine 

ECLs that may occur over either a 12 month period or the 

remaining life of an asset, depending on the 

categorisation of the individual asset. This categorisation 

is determined by an assessment of whether there has 

been a significant increase in credit risk (‘SICR’) of the 

borrower since loan origination.  

It is also necessary to consider the impact of different 

future macroeconomic conditions in the determination 

of ECLs. 

 

The methodology used by the Bank to determine ECL 

requires a number of assumptions and judgements to be 

made. We believe that those of most significance, in 

terms of both judgmental and material nature, are as 

follows: 

● The judgments made by management in 

determining the probability of default (‘PD’) 

and loss given default (‘LGD’); 

● The ‘staging’ thresholds selected by 

management to determine a significant increase 

in credit risk, and hence whether a 12 month or 

lifetime loss provision is recorded; 

● The measurement of ECL on stage 3 loans 

individually assessed; and 

● The application of forward looking economic 

assumptions used in the model. 

We understood management’s approach to determining 

ECL allowances and performed the following substantive 

audit procedures in order to assess the performance of the 

ECL models implemented, the appropriateness of 

management’s judgments and estimates in the context of 

the current economic environment and our wider industry 

experience.  

We evaluated the design and implementation of controls 

related to the determination of the ECL allowance.  

We engaged the support of our credit modelling specialists 
in the substantive procedures set out below. 

PD and LGD rates 

We evaluated and critically assessed the methodology 

applied in the impairment models, to evaluate whether the 

methodology was compliant with IFRS 9 requirements, 

and tested key assumptions and judgments, including 

those made by management in determining PDs and LGDs, 

used in the calculation of provisions.  

Significant increase in credit risk 

We evaluated the appropriateness of, and substantively 

tested the application of, the quantitative and qualitative 

criteria used to assess significant increases in credit risk 

within the methodology and calculations. 

To test the application of management’s ‘staging’ 

thresholds, we performed substantive procedures including 

selecting samples of loans and advances, and compared the 

results of our assessment against management’s 

conclusions. 

Measurement of ECL on Stage 3 loans individually 
assessed 

For all stage 3 loans, we evaluated the specific 

circumstances of the borrower, post balance sheet date 

developments and whether key judgments were 

appropriate. We re-performed management’s impairment 

calculations and tested the accuracy of key data inputs 

used to supporting documentation. We tested the valuation 

of collateral held and challenged management on 

subjective estimates and assumptions. 

Forward looking information and multiple 
economic scenarios 

We challenged the reasoning and assessed the quantitative 

and qualitative impact on management’s modelling 

simplifications on the incorporation of forward looking 

information into the impairment modelling process. 

We evaluated whether the credit allowance disclosures 

made by management were compliant with the 

requirements of IFRS 9 and traced the disclosures to 

source data. 

Based on our procedures and the evidence obtained, we 

found the assumptions and judgments used by 
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management in determining the impairment estimate to be 

reasonable, and the financial statements disclosures to be 

materially in line with the requirements of IFRS 9. 

Potential impact of Covid-19 

Refer to Note 28 - Post balance sheet events 

There is a global pandemic of Covid-19 (also known as 
Coronavirus) which has taken hold in the UK where the 
Bank operates. This has been disruptive to financial 
markets and normal patterns of human behaviour. This 
is anticipated to translate into an adverse impact on the 
global economy. In response, the UK government and 
the Bank of England have announced measures, such as 
lowering the base rate and countercyclical buffer 
requirements, designed to ameliorate the resulting 
adverse impacts on the economy. Specifically for 
charities, the UK government has announced a package 
of support to help ensure charities across the UK can 
continue their work during the Covid-19 outbreak. 

  

The directors have specifically considered the impact on 
the financial statements, including the post balance sheet 
event disclosures and its impact on their going concern 
assessment through evaluating the impact on the Bank's 
capital and liquidity positions. 

  

The directors have concluded that the Bank remains a 

going concern and that the matter is a non-adjusting 

post balance sheet event, the financial effect of which 

cannot be reliably estimated at this stage. 

We critically assessed management’s conclusion that the 
matter be treated as a non-adjusting post balance sheet 
event and that the directors consider the impact of which 
cannot be reliably estimated at this stage. We considered: 

● The timing and development of the outbreak 

across the world; 
● The timing and nature, in particular, of UK 

government advice to UK citizens; and 
● How the financial statements might be impacted 

by the aforementioned disruption and the 

complexity in measuring such impacts. 

In assessing the directors’ going concern assessment , we 
evaluated whether it considered impacts arising from 
Covid-19. Our procedures in this respect included: 

 

● Evaluating management’s Covid-19 impact 

assessment on the Bank’s capital and liquidity 

positions, and operating plans; and 

● Substantiating the Bank’s liquid assets, 

arrangements for access to Bank of England 

facilities, and assessing the appropriateness and 

feasibility of potential management actions. 

  

Based on the work performed, we are satisfied that the 

matter has been appropriately evaluated and reflected in 

the financial statements. 

      

How we tailored the audit scope  

We tailored the scope of our audit to ensure that we performed enough work to be able to give an opinion on the 
financial statements as a whole, taking into account the structure of the company, the accounting processes and 
controls, and the industry in which it operates.  

The Charity Bank Limited is a stand-alone entity with no subsidiaries. The scope of our audit and the nature, timing 
and extent of audit procedures performed were determined by our risk assessment. We performed audit procedures 
over relevant business activities and using the materiality levels set out below. 

Materiality 

The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. We set certain quantitative thresholds for 
materiality. These, together with qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the scope of our audit and the 
nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures on the individual financial statement line items and disclosures and 
in evaluating the effect of misstatements, both individually and in aggregate on the financial statements as a whole.  

Based on our professional judgment, we determined materiality for the financial statements as a whole as follows: 

Overall materiality £211,500 (2018: £399,000). 

How we determined it 1% of Net Assets (2018: 2% of equity). 

Rationale for benchmark 
applied 

We believe that net assets is the appropriate benchmark as the principal focus for 
main stakeholders is whether the Bank has sufficient resources to support its 
business activities. 

We have included the materiality used by the predecessor auditors in the prior year for comparison. 

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to them misstatements identified during our audit above 
£10,500 (2018: £20,000) as well as misstatements below that amount that, in our view, warranted reporting for 
qualitative reasons. 
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Conclusions relating to going concern 

ISAs (UK) require us to report to you when:  

● the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements 

is not appropriate; or  

● the directors have not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties that 

may cast significant doubt about the company’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of 

accounting for a period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial statements are 

authorised for issue. 

We have nothing to report in respect of the above matters. 

However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, this statement is not a guarantee as to the 
company’s ability to continue as a going concern. 

Reporting on other information  

The other information comprises all of the information in the Annual Report other than the financial statements and 
our auditors’ report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information. Our opinion on the financial 
statements does not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or, except to the 
extent otherwise explicitly stated in this report, any form of assurance thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in 
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify an apparent material 
inconsistency or material misstatement, we are required to perform procedures to conclude whether there is a 
material misstatement of the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the 
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required 
to report that fact. We have nothing to report based on these responsibilities. 

With respect to the Strategic Report and Directors’ Report, we also considered whether the disclosures required by the 
UK Companies Act 2006 have been included.   

Based on the responsibilities described above and our work undertaken in the course of the audit, ISAs (UK) require 
us also to report certain opinions and matters as described below. 

Strategic Report and Directors’ Report 

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, the information given in the Strategic Report 
and Directors’ Report for the year ended 31 December 2019 is consistent with the financial statements and has been 
prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements. 

In light of the knowledge and understanding of the company and its environment obtained in the course of the audit, 
we did not identify any material misstatements in the Strategic Report and Directors’ Report.  

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit 

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements 

As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement set out on page 18, the directors are responsible 
for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the applicable framework and for being satisfied 
that they give a true and fair view. The directors are also responsible for such internal control as they determine is 
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the company’s ability to continue as a 
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the company or to cease operations, or have no realistic 
alternative but to do so. 

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and 
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.  

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the FRC’s website at: 
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditors’ report. 
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Use of this report 

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the company’s members as a body in 
accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving these 
opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or 
into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing. 

Other required reporting 

Companies Act 2006 exception reporting 

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion: 

● we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or 

● adequate accounting records have not been kept by the company, or returns adequate for our audit have 

not been received from branches not visited by us; or 

● certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or 

● the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns.  

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility.  

Appointment 

Following the recommendation of the Audit Committee, we were appointed by the directors on 14 May 2019 to audit 
the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019 and subsequent financial periods. This is therefore our 
first year of engagement. 

Darren Meek (Senior Statutory Auditor) 
for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors 
London 
1 May 2020 
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Statement of Comprehensive Income 

 

The notes and information on pages 35 to 66 form part of these financial statements. 

All income and expenses are derived from continuing operations. 

  

for the year ended 31
st

 December 2019 2019 2018

Notes £'000 £'000

Continuing activities

Interest income 4 6,711 5,418

Interest expense 4 (2,024) (1,479)

Net interest income 4,687 3,939

Fee income 5 514 395 

Profit/(loss) on financial assets at fair value through profit & loss 6 1,031 (9)

Other operating income 5 39 

Net total income 6,237 4,364

Administrative expenses 7 (4,987)  (4,792)

Depreciation and amortisation 15-17 (241)  (134)

Impairment charge 24 (198)  (46)

Profit/ (loss) on ordinary activities before taxation 811 (608)

Tax expense 10 - - 

Profit/ (loss) on ordinary activities after taxation 811 (608)
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Balance Sheet 

   

These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 1st May 2020. 
They were signed on their behalf by: 

 

 

 

 

Alan Hodson – Director Kate Sayer – Director 

Registered company number: 4330018 

The notes and information on pages 35 to 66 form part of these financial statements. 

As at

31st Dec 31st Dec

2019 2018

Notes £'000 £'000

Assets

Cash and balances at banks 11 16,921 10,740

Financial assets at FVPL 12 37,376 33,387

Financial assets at amortised cost 12 12,234 6,123

Loans and advances to customers 13 179,025 142,022

Prepayments 288 258

Other assets 14 1,359 1,373

Property and equipment 15 21 170

Right-of-use asset 16 678 - 

Intangible fixed assets 17 1,101 22

Total assets 249,003 194,095

Liabilities

Customer accounts 18 218,774 170,930

Deferred income 379 362

Other liabilities 19 1,677 1,114

Accruals 680 422

Lease liability 16 588 - 

Subordinated debt 20, 23 5,752 1,504

Total liabilities 227,850 174,332

Called up share capital 21 12,373 12,077

Retained earnings 4,217 3,327

Share premium 4,563 4,359

Equity shareholders' funds 22 21,153 19,763

Total liabilities and shareholders' funds 249,003 194,095



The Charity Bank Limited ANNUAL REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER 2019 

 

33 
 

Statement of Changes in Equity 

 

 

 

 

The notes and information on pages 35 to 66 form part of these financial statements. 

  

Share Retained Share Available-for- Total

capital earnings premium sale reserve equity

Note £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Balance attributable to equity 

shareholders as at 31st December 2018 12,077 3,327 4,359 -  19,763 

Changes on initial application of IFRS 16 -  79 -  -  79 

Opening balance at 1st January 2019 12,077 3,406 4,359 -  19,842 

Profit for the year -  811 -  -  811 

Total comprehensive profit for the year -  811 -  -  811 

Capital received 22 296 -  204 -  500 

Balance attributable to equity 

shareholders as at 31st December 2019 12,373 4,217 4,563 -  21,153 

Share Retained Share Available-for- Total

capital earnings premium sale reserve equity

Note £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Balance attributable to equity 

shareholders as at 31st December 2017 12,077 3,688 4,359 244 20,368 

Changes on initial application of IFRS 9 -  247 -  (244) 3 

Opening balance at 1st January 2018 12,077 3,935 4,359 -  20,371 

Loss for the year -  (608) -  -  (608)

Total comprehensive loss for the year -  (608) -  -  (608)

Capital received 22 -  -  -  -  -  

Balance attributable to equity 

shareholders as at 31st December 2018 12,077 3,327 4,359 -  19,763 
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Cash Flow Statement 

For the year ended 31st December 2019 

 

 The notes and information on pages 35 to 66 form part of these financial statements. 

2019 2018

Note £'000 £'000

Cash flow from operating activities

Profit (Loss) before tax 811 (608)

Interest expense 2,024 1,479 

Depreciation of property and equipment 86 106 

Amortisation of intangible assets 19 28 

Depreciation of right-of-use asset 136 -  

Operating lease adjustment for IFRS 16 32 -  

Movement in impairment 92 (11)

3,200 994 

Loans and advances to customers (37,101) (33,184)

Financial assets (10,094) 736 

Other assets 17 1,034 

Movement in prepayments (30) 96 

(47,208) (31,318)

Due to customers 47,844 36,057 

Interest paid (1,970) (1,439)

Deferred income 17 48 

258 (199)

Other liabilities 560 176 

46,709 34,643 

2,701 4,319 

Cash flow from investing activities

Acquisition of fixed assets (1,114) (18)

Disposal of fixed assets 1 -  

Net cash (outflow) from investing activities (1,113) (18)

Cash flow from financing activities

Principal elements of lease payment (103) -  

Proceeds from issue of subordinated loan stock 4,750 -  

Interest on subordinated loan stock (54) (40)

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from financing activities 4,593 (40)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 6,181 4,261 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 11 10,740 6,479 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 11 16,921 10,740 

Net cash inflow from operating activities

Adjustment to reconcile net loss to cash flow used in operating activities

Net increase in assets relating to operating activities

Net increase in liabilities relating to operating activities

Movement in accruals and accrued interest
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Notes to the Financial Statements 

1 Accounting policies 

This note sets out Charity Bank's accounting policies which relate to the financial statements as a whole. All 
policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented unless stated otherwise. 

Income recognition 

a) Interest income and expense 

Interest income on financial assets and interest expense on financial liabilities are recognised in ‘interest 
income’ and ‘interest expense’ in the income statement using the ‘effective interest rate’ (’EIR’) method. 
Interest income is calculated by applying the EIR to the gross carrying amount on loans.  

The EIR is the rate that exactly discounts the expected future cash payments or receipts through the expected 
life of the financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount of the financial 
instrument. The EIR incorporates fees receivable or paid that are an integral part of the yield of an effective 
interest rate, transaction costs and all other premiums and discounts. 

All income derives from banking business carried out in the United Kingdom. 

b) Fee income 

Fees are accounted for depending on the services to which the income relates to as follows: 

• fees earned on the execution of a significant act are recognised in ‘fee income’ when the act is 
completed; 

• fees earned in respect of services are recognised in ‘fee income’ as the services are provided; and 

• fees which form an integral part of the ‘effective interest rate’ of a financial instrument are recognised 
as an adjustment to the effective interest rate and recorded in ‘interest income’. 

 
c) Donations 

Donations made are expensed during the year when they are committed to being made. 

Financial assets 

Financial assets are recognised in Charity Bank’s balance sheet when the bank becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument. All financial assets are initially recognised at fair value. Immediately 
after initial recognition, an expected credit loss allowance (’ECL’) is recognised for financial assets measured at 
amortised cost. No ECL is recognised for financial assets measured at FVPL.  

All financial assets measured at amortised cost are assessed to see if there has been a significant increase in 
credit risk since initial recognition. Refer to note 27 providing more detail on the significant increase in credit 
risk (‘SICR’) and the factors considered. 

i) Classification and subsequent measurement 

Financial assets are classified into the following categories: 

• Amortised cost; and 

• Fair value through profit or loss. 

Management determines the classification of financial assets at the time of initial recognition. Re-classification 
is not made between asset classes. 

The classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets depend on: 

i. The business model for managing the asset; and 
ii. The cash flow characteristics of the asset 
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1 Accounting policies (continued) 

Financial assets (continued) 

• Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where the cash flows solely 
represent payments of principal and interest (‘SPPI’) and not designated at FVPL, are measured at 
amortised cost. The carrying amount of these assets are adjusted by any credit loss allowances 
recognised. Interest income from the financial assets is included in profit using the effective interest 
rate method. 

• Fair value through profit or loss: Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or fair 
value through other comprehensive income (’FVOCI’) are measured at FVPL. A gain or loss is recognised 
in the profit or loss and presented within ‘Profit/(loss) on derecognition of financial assets measured 
at FVPL’ in the year in which it arises.  

Business model: The business model reflects how the assets are managed to generate cash flows. That is, if the 
objective is solely to collected contractual cash flows from the assets or collect both contractual cash flows and 
cash flows arising from the sale of assets.  

SPPI: Charity Bank assesses whether the financial asset cash flows represent solely payments of principal and 
interest using the SPPI test. 

ii) Impairment 

Charity Bank assesses on a forward-looking basis the ECL associated with its financial assets carried at amortised 
cost and with the exposure arising from loan commitments. A loss allowance is recognised at each reporting 
date. The measurement of ECL reflects: 

• The unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined by evaluating a range of possible 
outcomes; 

• The time value of money; and 

• Reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort at the reporting 
date about past events, current conditions and forecast of future economic conditions. 
 

iii) Modification 

Charity Bank sometimes renegotiates or modifies the contractual cash flows of loans to borrowers. When this 
happens, Charity Bank assesses whether or not the new terms are substantially different from the original 
terms. This is done by considering, but not limited to, the following factors: 

• If the borrower is in financial difficulty, whether the modification merely reduces the contractual cash 
flows to amounts the borrower is expected to pay; 

• Whether any substantial new terms are introduced that affect the risk profile of the loan; 

• Significant extension of the loan term when the borrower is not in financial difficulty; 

• Significant change to the interest rate; and 

• Insertion of collateral, other security or credit enhancements that significantly affect the credit risk 
associated with the loan. 

If the terms are substantially different, the original financial asset is derecognised and the bank recognises a 
‘new’ asset at fair value and recalculates a new EIR for the asset. The date of renegotiation is consequently 
considered to be that date of initial recognition for the impairment calculation purposes, including if there has 
been a significant increase in credit risk. Charity Bank also considers if the new financial asset is deemed to be 
credit-impaired at initial recognition, considering the factors of the renegotiation.  

If the terms are not substantially different, there is no derecognition and the carrying amount is recalculated.  

iiii) Derecognition other than modification 

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to receive the cash flows from the assets have 
expired. 
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1        Accounting policies (continued) 

Loans and receivables 

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market. 

Loans and receivables are initially recognised at fair value, including directly attributable transaction costs and 
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the ‘effective interest rate method’, less any expected 
credit losses. 

Impairment of loans and advances to customers held at amortised cost 

Charity Bank’s loan impairments are established to recognise expected impairment losses in its portfolio of 
loans carried at amortised cost. Refer to note 13 detailing the loan loss impairments. 

The actual amount of the future cash flows and the date they are received may differ from these estimates and 
consequently actual losses incurred may differ from those recognised in these financial statements. 

In certain cases, Charity Bank may use forbearance measures to assist borrowers experiencing significant 
financial distress. The bank’s policy is to work with borrowers and their boards to seek solutions to their financial 
problems, and to subscribe fully to the six ‘treating customers fairly’ outcomes in its approach to recovery 
management. Experience suggests that borrowers, even those in severe financial difficulties, can often secure 
grants and other funding to overcome such problems; the accessibility to such funding is unique to the social 
sector. Loan rescheduling may be considered on an exceptional basis if considered appropriate by the relevant 
delegated authority. Any forbearance measures agreed are assessed on a case by case basis. Forbearance 
accounts are monitored regularly by the Credit Sub-Committee and the Internal Credit Committee. 

A loan will be credit-impaired when there is evidence that events since the loan was granted have affected 
expected cash flows from the loan and the full value of the loan is not considered recoverable. A loan can also 
be credit-impaired when the borrower has gone into administration, even if the full value is considered 
recoverable and will be categorised in stage 3. 

Write off policy 

Bank writes off financial assets in whole or in part, when it has exhausted all practical recovery efforts and has 
concluded there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. 

Financial liabilities 

Financial liabilities are recognised in Charity Bank’s balance sheet when the bank becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument. Charity Bank classifies its financial liabilities as ‘other liabilities’. 

Management determines the classification of financial liabilities at initial recognition. Financial liabilities are 
initially recognised at fair value including directly attributable transaction costs and are subsequently measured 
at amortised cost, using the ‘effective interest rate’ method. 

Equity instruments 

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting 
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by Charity Bank are recognised at the date the proceeds are 
received, net of direct issue costs. 

Repurchase of Charity Bank’s own equity instruments is recognised and deducted directly in ‘equity’. No gain 
or loss is recognised in ‘profit or loss’ on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of Charity Bank’s own equity 
instruments. 
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1        Accounting policies (continued) 

Fair value 

All financial instruments are recognised initially at fair value. The fair value of a financial instrument on initial 
recognition is normally the transaction price. 

Subsequently, the fair values of financial instruments that are quoted in an active market are based on bid price 
(for assets) and offer price (for liabilities). Where there is no quoted market price in an active market, fair values 
are determined using valuation techniques including discounting future cash flows, option pricing models and 
other methods used by market participants.  

Property and equipment 

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment 
losses. 

Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis to write off the cost of the fixed assets over their estimated 
useful life as follows: 

Leasehold improvement  10 years (or lease period if shorter) 

Premises fittings   5 years 

Office equipment/furniture  3 years 

Right-of-use asset   Term of the lease 

At each balance sheet date, property and equipment are assessed for indications of impairment.  

Intangible assets 

Intangible assets are stated at cost, less amortisation and provisions for impairment. The assets are primarily 
computer software and amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful life which has been 
calculated as three years, in a manner that reflects the pattern to which they contribute to future cash flows. 
As per note 17, the new banking system, once capitalised will have an estimated useful life of ten years. Work 
in progress relates to the new banking system and will be capitalised when implemented. At each balance sheet 
date, intangible assets are assessed for indications of impairment. 

Leases 

A lease is recognised as a right-of-use asset with a corresponding lease liability at the date at which the leased 
asset is available for use. The asset and liability arising from the lease are measured on a present value basis of 
future lease payments. Lease payments are discounted using an interest rate implicit in the lease.  

Payments associated with short-term leases or leases of low-value assets are recognised on a straight-line basis 
as an expense in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

Taxation 

A tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the income 
statement, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly 
in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, 
respectively. 

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from net profit as 
reported in the income statement because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible 
in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. Charity Bank’s liability for 
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet 
date. 
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1        Accounting policies (continued) 

Taxation (continued) 

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amounts of 
the assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation 
of taxable profit and is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are 
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent  

that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be 
utilised. Recognition of both deferred tax assets and deferred tax is reviewed on an annual balance at the 
balance sheet date. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets 
against current tax liabilities and when the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by 
the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities and there is an 
intention to settle the balances on a net basis. 

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the liability is settled or 
the asset is realised. 

Pension costs 

Charity Bank makes contributions to the Pensions Trust in respect of defined contribution personal pension 
arrangements. One of the schemes offered historically by the Pensions Trust, the Growth Plan series 3, offered 
guarantees to its members as to capital and pensions and is, therefore, considered to be a defined benefit 
scheme based on a change in legislation in 2014. Only a few employees are still members of that scheme, which 
is now closed, but as a participating employer, Charity Bank may be liable to fund any shortfalls in the scheme 
if it decides to withdraw from the scheme. As advised by the Pensions Trust, Charity Bank’s default liability on 
withdrawal from the scheme amounted to £43,329 at 30th September 2018. This was based on an actuarial 
valuation of employer’s liability.  

Charity Bank is not required to make deficit contributions, has no plans to withdraw from the scheme and a 
liability has not therefore been accrued as at the balance sheet date.  

The amount charged in the Statement of comprehensive income in respect of pension costs is the contribution 
payable in the year. No provision has been made to account for any potential shortfall in the fund attributable 
to the Growth Fund. Differences between contributions payable and the year-end contributions actually paid 
are shown as either accruals or prepayments in the balance sheet. 

The amount of contributions upon which the benefits are calculated is 17.00% of basic salary. Charity Bank 
contributes up to 11.33% and its employee up to 5.67%. 

Cash and balances at banks 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash and demand deposits with banks. 

Capital instruments 

Charity Bank classifies a financial instrument that it issues as a financial liability or an equity instrument in 
accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement. An instrument is classified as a liability if it is a 
contractual obligation to deliver cash or another financial asset, or to exchange financial assets or financial 
liabilities on potentially unfavourable terms. An instrument is classified as equity if it evidences a residual 
interest in the assets of Charity Bank after the deduction of liabilities. The components of a compound financial 
instrument issued by Charity Bank are classified and accounted for separately as financial liabilities or equity as 
appropriate. 
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2 Basis of preparation 

General information 

The Charity Bank Limited is a company incorporated in the United Kingdom under the Companies Act 2006. The 
address of the registered office is given on page 1. The nature of the bank’s operations and its principal activities 
are set out in the Directors’ report. 

Basis of preparation 

These financial statements have been prepared and approved by the Directors in accordance with IFRS as 
adopted by the EU and therefore comply with Article 4 of the EU International Accounting Standards regulation.  

Going concern 

Charity Bank’s business activities, together with the factors likely to affect its future development, finances, 
performance and position, are set out in the Statement by the Chairman, the Strategic Report and the Directors’ 
Report.  

The financial position of Charity Bank and its cash flow and prospective liquidity position are described in the 
Strategic and Directors’ Reports.  

Charity Bank’s objectives, policies and processes for managing its capital, risk management objectives and its 
exposures to credit risk and liquidity risk are set out in note 27.  

Charity Bank has the resources to enable it to continue its operations for the future and plans to raise additional 
capital to implement its growth plans. 

The Directors believe that Charity Bank is well placed to manage its business risks successfully within this 
economic climate. They continue, therefore, to adopt the going concern basis in preparing this annual report 
and these financial statements.  

Basis of measurement 

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for financial assets which are 
valued at amortised cost or FVPL. 

Significant estimates and judgements  

Judgements are deemed to relate to how accounting policy is applied whereas estimates relate to quantification 
of amounts included within the Annual Report. There are no critical judgements in this regards. The preparation 
of the company’s financial statements requires management to make significant judgements, estimates and 
assumptions regarding the valuation of certain financial instruments (see fair value in note 1 and note 12) and 
impairment of assets (see loan impairment in note 1, sub-section ‘Impairment of financial assets held at 
amortised cost’, and note 13 and 24). Sensitivities relating to interest and credit risk are disclosed under note 
27. Other judgments also include: the recognition of deferred tax assets which are recognised only to the extent 
sufficient future taxable profit is probable (see note 10); the outcome of litigation (although this is not 
applicable in the current financial year, see note 25); and other matters that affect the financial statements and 
related disclosures. The company believes that the estimates utilised in preparing the financial statements are 
reasonable, relevant and reliable. Actual results could differ from these estimates. 

Measurement of the expected credit loss allowance 

The measurement of the ECL allowance for financial assets measured at amortised cost requires assumptions 
about the future economic conditions and credit behaviour. More information regarding the ECL is disclosed in 
note 27.  
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2        Basis of preparation (continued) 

Application of revised International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRSs’) 

In the current year, Charity Bank has applied the following standards and amendments that is to be effective 
for an accounting period that begins on or after 1st January 2019: 

• IFRS 16 Leases 

• Interpretation 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments. 

Charity Bank has had to change its accounting policy as a result of adopting IFRS 16 and has elected to apply 
the modified retrospective approach, with no comparatives being restated. The reclassification and adjustment 
arising from the new standard is recognised in the opening balance sheet on 1 January 2019. This is disclosed 
in note 16. The other amendments listed above do not have any impact on the amounts recognised in prior 
periods and are not expected to significantly affect current or future periods. 

Future accounting developments 

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are not mandatory for 31 
December 2019 reporting periods and have not been early adopted by Charity Bank. These standards, 
including the amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7 due to the interest rate benchmark reform, are not 
expected to have a material impact on the bank in the current or future reporting periods. 

3 Segmental reporting 

In the opinion of the Directors, Charity Bank carries on one principal class of business, banking, and operates 
almost entirely within one geographical segment, the United Kingdom. Deposits are drawn from throughout 
the United Kingdom together with a small amount of funds from abroad. Charity Bank lends in every county 
and region of the United Kingdom, with a small proportion committed in support of UK non-governmental 
organisations working internationally. 

4 Net Interest Income 

   

The interest income of £72k from Financial assets at amortised cost relates to the UK Treasury stock and 
European Investment Bank (‘EIB’) floating rate note. The total interest income of £6,711k is calculated using the 
EIR method and relates to income from all financial assets measured at amortised cost. 

 

 

2019 2018

Interest and similar income £'000 £'000

Loans and advances to customers 6,562 5,298 

Cash and balances at banks 63 19 

Other assets 14 14 

Financial assets at amortised cost 72 87 

6,711 5,418 

2019 2018

Interest expense and similar charges £'000 £'000

Due to customers 1,945 1,439 

Debt issued 54 40 

Lease liability 25 - 

2,024 1,479 
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5 Fee income 

  

 

6 Profit/(loss) on financial assets at fair value through profit & loss 

 

 

7 Administrative expenses 

   

Total number of employees at 31st December 2019 were 58 and at 31st December 2018 were 62. Full-time 
equivalents at 31st December 2019 were 54 and at 31st December 2018 were 53. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2019 2018

£'000 £'000

Arrangement fees on loans that did not proceed 64 14 

Non-utilisation fees 450 381 

514 395 

2019 2018

£'000 £'000

Distributable income from Open Ended Investment Vehicles ('OEIVs') 550 803 

Realised gains and losses on OEIVs (142) 5 

Unrealised gains and losses on OEIVs 623 (817)

1,031 (9)

2019 2018

Average number of employees 63 64 

63 64 

2019 2018

£'000 £'000

Wages and salaries (including Executive Directors) 2,790 2,543 

Social security costs 311 278 

Pension costs 267 236 

Other staff costs 257 248 

Total staff costs 3,625 3,305 

Other administrative expenses 1,362 1,487 

4,987 4,792 
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7 Administrative expenses (continued) 

Employee emoluments 

The number of staff whose annualised emoluments exceeded £60,000 as at 31st December 2019 and at 31st 
December 2018 were as follows:  

  

Employees 

The Directors consider the mission of Charity Bank will be best achieved if the staff work together as a team 
and that the reward structure should reflect this. The current ratio between the highest and lowest paid 
member of staff is seven times (2018: eight times). Pension contributions were made to The Pensions Trust or 
other approved pension scheme in respect of employees and Directors included above. 

Directors 

In 2019, one Non-Executive Director (2018: 1) was reimbursed expenses totalling £1 088 (2018: £712), relating 
primarily to travel expenses incurred in attending Board meetings and events arranged by Charity Bank. 
Emoluments are not paid to Non-Executive Directors.  

Directors’ remuneration 

 

The highest paid Director during the year received a total remuneration package of £151k (2018: £114k). Two 
Executive Directors received pension benefits in the year to 31 December 2019 (2018: two). Directors do not 
receive any share options and no share options were awarded under long term incentive plans. 

Key management personnel 

 

 

 

 

2019 2018

Number Number

£60,001 - £70,000 7 4 

£70,001 - £80,000 2 2 

£80,001 - £90,000 1 1 

£90,001 - £100,000 2 2 

£100,001 - £110,000 1 1 

£120,001 - £130,000 - 1 

£130,001 - £140,000 1 - 

14 11 

2019 2018

£'000 £'000

Directors' emoluments 239 211

Contribution to a defined contribution pension scheme 27 18

Medical insurance 4 5

270 234 

2019 2018

£'000 £'000

Emoluments 512 518

Contribution to a defined contribution pension scheme 58 51

Medical insurance 9 7

579 576 
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7 Administrative expenses (continued) 

Key management personnel comprise the Board of Directors and all members of the EXCO.  

Loans and deposit accounts are held by members of the Board and Key Management Personnel. These are on 
the same terms as other customers of the bank where the equivalent products are on offer. All loans are in 
the form of staff loans and total £15k (2018: £nil) and are unsecured.  

Deposits held by key management personnel total £181k (2018: £227k) and subordinated debt held by 
members of the Board is £650k (2018: nil). Deposits held by connected individuals to Charity Bank are £93k 
(2018: £93k) and deposits held by connected entities are £86k (2018: £85k). 

Auditors remuneration has been disclosed in note 9. 

8 Pension costs 

Charity Bank operates a defined contribution pension scheme for staff. Charity Bank contributed £267k during 
the year (31st December 2018: £236k). This amount forms part of total staff costs recorded under administrative 
expenses. There was £2k (2018: nil) outstanding contributions at the balance sheet date.  

Refer to pension costs under note 1 for additional details of the defined benefit scheme, this scheme is now 
closed. 

9 Profit (loss) on activities before taxation 

  

The rental of premises is no longer treated as an operating lease in accordance with IFRS 16. Refer to note 2 
for more information. 

10 Tax expense 

The company’s profits for the financial year are taxed at the standard rate of UK Corporation Tax of 19%. 

Deferred taxes at the balance sheet date have been measured using these enacted tax rates and are not 
recognised on the balance sheet due to uncertainty around future utilisation.  

 

 

 

2019 2018

£'000 £'000

Operating profit is stated after charging:

Depreciation - property and equipment 86 106 

Depreciation - right-of-use asset 136 - 

Depreciation - intangible assets 19 28 

Auditors' remuneration:

- audit of annual accounts 110 95 

- audit-related assurance services 4 - 

114 95 

Rental of premises held under operating lease - 156 

2019 2018

£'000 £'000

Current tax:

Current tax on profits for the year - - 

Total current tax - - 

Tax per income statement - - 
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10 Tax expense (continued) 

Factors Affecting Total Tax Charge for the Current Period 

The charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit per the income statement as follows: 

 

Unrecognised deferred tax 

 

A deferred tax asset has not been recognised in the balance sheet, these assets are only recognised if it is 
probable that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise the temporary differences and losses against. 
The losses can be carried forward indefinitely and have no expiry date. 

 

11 Cash and balances at banks 

 

2019 2018

£'000 £'000

Profit/ (loss) for the period - continuing activities 811 (608)

Tax on profit/ (loss) at standard UK tax rate of 19.00% (2018: 19%) 154 (116)

Effects of:

     Expenses not deductible 9 15 

     Amounts not recognised

           IFRS 16 transitional adjustment 3 - 

           Fixed assets - Net book value 7 (2)

           Fixed assets - Tax written down value 3 - 

           Trading temporary differences - (20)

           Tax losses - generated pre 01 April 2017 (155) 127 

           Changes in basis adjustments (10 year spreading) (20) (2)

     Asset-for-sale adjustments (1) (2)

Tax charge for the period - - 

2019 2018

£'000 £'000

Carried forward tax losses 1,087 1,125 

Accelerated capital allowances 58 38 

IFRS change in basis adjustment 74 137 

Temporary trading differences 3 58 

1,222 1,358 

Deferred tax rate 17% 17%

31st Dec 31st Dec

2019 2018

£'000 £'000

Cash 5,854 6,565 

Short-term balances with other banks 11,070 4,217 

Less expected credit loss (3) (42)

16,921 10,740 
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12 Financial assets 

 

OEIV have been classified as FVPL and the UK Treasury stock and EIB floating rate note has been classified as 
amortised cost. The UK Treasury stock and EIB floating rate note are held to meet regulatory liquidity 
requirements for HQLAs.  

13 Loans and advances to customers 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

31st Dec 31st Dec

2019 2018

£'000 £'000

Financial assets at FVPL

Open Ended Investment Vehicles 37,376 33,387 

37,376 33,387 

Financial assets at amortised cost

UK Treasury Stock 9,752 3,649 

Less expected credit loss (6) (8)

European Investment Bank (EIB) floating rate note 2,489 2,487 

Less expected credit loss (1) (5)

12,234 6,123 

49,610 39,510 

Maturity:

- less than three months 43,955 33,387 

- one year or less but over three months 3,661 6,136 

- between one year and five years 2,001 - 

Less expected credit loss (7) (13)

49,610 39,510 

Performing Impaired Performing Impaired

loans loans Total loans loans Total

31
st

 Dec 31
st

 Dec 31
st

 Dec 31
st

 Dec 31
st

 Dec 31
st

 Dec

2019 2019 2019 2018 2018 2018

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Remaining maturity:

- three months or less excluding on 

demand or at short notice 528 - 528 517 - 517 

- one year or less but over three months 1,903 - 1,903 212 - 212 

- five years or less but over one year 3,384 - 3,384 3,433 - 3,433 

- over five years 170,924 2,915 173,839 137,244 1,147 138,391 

176,739 2,915 179,654 141,406 1,147 142,553 

Less allowance for impairment (292) (337) (629) (280) (251) (531)

176,447 2,578 179,025 141,126 896 142,022 



The Charity Bank Limited ANNUAL REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER 2019 

 

47 
 

13 Loans and advances to customers (continued) 

As at 31st December 2019, Charity Bank had advanced variable and managed rate loans amounting to £173.4 
million (31st December 2018: £139.5 million) and fixed rate loans amounting to £6.3 million (31st December 
2018: £3.1 million) to customers. £52k was the balance granted as staff loans (31st December 2018: £39k).  

Total impaired loans and advances to customers amounted to £2,915k (31st December 2018: £1,147k), within 
which an allowance for specific impairment of £337k (31st December 2018: £251k) was included. 

14 Other assets 

  

15 Property and equipment 

  

 

31st Dec 31st Dec

2019 2018

£'000 £'000

Bank placements 1,273 1,259 

Less expected credit loss (2) (3)

Fees receivable 91 122 

Less expected credit loss (5) (7)

Interest receivable 2 2 

1,359 1,373 

Leasehold  

Equipment  improvements  Total  

£'000  £'000  £'000  

Cost

At 1st January 2019 388 333 721 

Additions 12 - 12 

Disposals (33) (120) (153)

At 31st December 2019 367 213 580 

Accumulated depreciation

At 1
st

 January 2019 337 214 551 

Charged in year 44 42 86 

Released for disposals (32) (46) (78)

At 31st December 2019 349 210 559 

Net book value

At 31
st

 December 2019 18 3 21 

At 31
st

 December 2018 51 119 170 
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16 Right-of-use asset 

 

The total cash outflow for the lease liability in 2019 was £127k. Depreciation for right-of-use asset is disclosed 
in note 9 and interest on the lease liability is in note 4. 

In January 2016 the IASB issued IFRS 16. The standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st 
January 2019. Charity Bank will be applying the modified retrospective approach, with no comparatives being 
restated. The reclassification and adjustment arising from the new standard is recognised in the opening 
balance sheet on 1 January 2019.  

 

Charity Bank only has one lease on the office premise in Tonbridge which was affected by IFRS 16. Until 2019, 
the lease was treated as an operating lease. From 1 January 2019, the lease was recognised as a right-of-use 
asset and the corresponding liability was raised. The exemption for smaller items such as the lease on office 
printers has been used, as it is considered that these leases are low in value.  

The liability is measured as the present value of future lease payments discounted using the incremental 
borrowing rate (which was 3.75% at year-end). The asset is measured at cost comprising of the amount of the 
initial measurement of the lease liability and the restoration costs. Charity Bank is exposed to potential future 
increases in the lease payments, when this occurs the lease liability will be reassessed and adjusted against the 
right-of-use asset. 

Lease payments are allocated between principal and interest expense. The interest expense is charged to the 
profit and loss over the lease period. 

 

2019 2018

£'000 £'000

Right-of-use asset

Building 678 - 

Lease liability

Current 107 - 

Non-current 481 - 

588 - 

Maturity:

- less than three months 26 - 

- one year or less but over three months 81 - 

- between one year and five years 470 - 

- more than five years 11 - 

588 - 

£'000  

Operating lease commitment under IAS 17 at 31/12/2018 774

The effect of discounting using the incremantal borrowing rate at 01/01/2019 (83)

Lease liability at 01/01/2019 691 

Current 103

Non-current 588
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17 Intangible fixed assets 

   

The work in progress relates to the new banking system which should be available for use in 2020 and will be 
amortised over 10 years. The costs capitalised relate to staff costs directly attributable to the development of 
new banking system and costs paid to the relevant suppliers for the new system and its project management. 

18 Customer accounts 

  

19 Other liabilities 

 

Cash collateral held is in the form of deposits received from loan borrowers. 

 

Computer Work in

software progress Total  

£'000  £'000  £'000  

Cost

At 1
st

 January 2019 402 - 402 

Additions 19 1,079 1,098 

Disposals (30) - (30)

At 31
st

 December 2019 391 1,079 1,470 

Accumulated amortisation

At 1
st

 January 2019 380 - 380 

Charged in year 19 - 19 

Released for disposals (30) - (30)

At 31
st

 December 2019 369 - 369 

Net book value

At 31
st

 December 2019 22 1,079 1,101 

At 31st December 2018 22 - 22 

31
st

 Dec 31
st

 Dec

2019 2018

£'000 £'000

With agreed maturity dates or periods of notice by remaining 

maturity:

- three months or less but not repayable on demand 111,545 73,998 

- one year or less, but over three months 67,969 59,178 

- more than one year but less than five years 39,258 37,752 

- more than five years 2 2 

218,774 170,930 

31
st

 Dec 31
st

 Dec

2019 2018

£'000 £'000

Social security and other taxes 195 184 

Cash collateral 1,471 922 

Credit loss allowance on commitments 11 8 

1,677 1,114 
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19 Other liabilities (continued) 

An expected credit loss charge has been raised on commitments in accordance with IFRS 9. Refer to note 25 for 
the commitments balance at 31st December 2019. The expected credit loss on commitments has been included 
in the ‘Charge/(release) to income statement’ in note 24. 

20 Subordinated debt 

 

£4.75m of new subordinated debt was raised during the year, which matures in 2024. 

In the event of Charity Bank’s liquidation before the loans mature, the repayment of capital and outstanding 
interest will rank behind ordinary creditors. 

21 Called up share capital 

 

  

No dividend has been declared (2018: £nil). 

All of the issued ordinary shares are equity shares. 

 

 

 

 

31st Dec 31st Dec

2019 2018

£'000 £'000

Subordinated debt

Principal 5,750 1,500 

Accrued Interest 2 4 

5,752 1,504 

Maturity:

- less than three months 2 4 

- one year or less but over three months - - 

- between one year and five years 5,750 1,000 

- more than five years - 500 

5,752 1,504 

31st Dec 31st Dec

Number of 2019 Number of 2018

shares £'000 shares £'000

Authorised, issued, allotted and fully 

paid

Ordinary shares of £0.50 each 24,745,125 12,373 24,154,946 12,077 

24,745,125 12,373 24,154,946 12,077 

Number Share Share

of shares capital premium

£'000  £'000  

At 31
st

 December 2019 24,745,125 12,373 4,563 

At 31
st

 December 2018 24,154,946 12,077 4,359 
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21 Called up share capital (continued) 

Ordinary shares carry one vote each up to a maximum of 49.9%. Any excess votes over and above the 49.9% 
are reapportioned across the remaining voting shares. Upon a winding-up, ordinary shareholders will only be 
paid after repayment of capital to non-cumulative preference shareholders.  

22 Equity shareholder’s funds 

   

During 2019, Esmée Fairbairn Foundation converted their £500k loan note into new ordinary shares in Charity 
Bank. 

23 Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities 

The table below details changes in the Company’s liabilities arising from financing activities, including both cash 
and non-cash changes. 

  

 

24 Impairment charge 

  

 

At 1
st

Incoming Profit for Changes on initial At 31
st

Jan 2019 resources the year application of IFRS 16 Dec 2019

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Called-up share capital

  Fully paid ordinary shares  12,077 296 - -  12,373 

Retained earnings

  Capital contribution  14,478 - - -  14,478 

  Accumulated loss (11,151) - 811 79 (10,261)

Total unrestricted 

equity shareholders' funds 15,404 296 811 79 16,590 

Share premium 4,359 204 - - 4,563 

Available-for-sale reserve - - - - - 

Total equity shareholders' funds  19,763 500 811 79  21,153 

1st Jan Cash Non-cash 31st Dec

2019 changes changes 2019

Note £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Subordinated debt 20 1,504 4,248 - 5,752 

1,504 4,248 - 5,752 

1st Jan Cash Non-cash 31st Dec

2018 changes changes 2018

Note £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Subordinated debt 20 1,504 - - 1,504 

1,504 - - 1,504 

2019 2018

£'000 £'000

Opening balance 603 572 

Bad debts written off (144) (15)

Charge to income statement 198 46 

Closing balance 657 603 
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25 Contingent liabilities and commitments 

a) Legal issues 

At 31st December 2019, there were no pending legal cases or other issues in progress which might have a 
material impact on the financial statements of Charity Bank (2018: none). 

b) Off-balance sheet liabilities 

  

Commitments comprise amounts yet to be drawn under loan offers or agreements issued to borrowing 
customers or where formalities, for example, completion of security arrangements, have yet to be finalised. 
Refer to note 19 where an impairment has been raised for the expected credit loss on commitments in 
accordance with IFRS 9. 

26 Related party transactions 

Director's and Key Management Personnel emoluments and transactions are disclosed in note 7.  

Loans made in partnership with The Big Society Capital Limited total £11.2m (6 loans with 4 borrowers) (2018: 
£8.8m, 5 loans with 3 borrowers). Commitments relating to the partnership with The Big Society Capital Limited 
total £5.3m (2018: £4m). 

27 Financial Risk Management 

Interest rate risks 

A robust understanding of the drivers and manifestation of the various interest rate risks to which Charity Bank 
is exposed is required to facilitate good risk management, supervision and potentially capital adequacy. 

The following tables show the interest rate sensitivity profiles of assets and liabilities, demonstrating the 
sensitivity of a change in rate. 

 

 

 

31st
 Dec 31

st
 Dec

2019 2018

£'000 £'000

Loan commitments

Undrawn irrevocable loan commitments 48,390 44,785 

Next  Up to 3  3 - 6  6 months  1 - 5  Over 5  No specific

As at 31st Dec 2019 day  months  months  to 1 year  years  years  repricing Total  

£'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  

Assets

Cash and balances at 

banks 16,921 - - - - - - 16,921 

Financial assets - 43,948 - 3,661 2,001 - - 49,610 

Loans and advances to 

customers - 172,928 - - 6,097 - - 179,025 

Prepayments and 

other assets - - - - 1,271 - 376 1,647 

Right-of-use asset - - - - - - 678 678 

Property and 

equipment - - - - - - 21 21 

Intangible fixed assets - - - - - - 1,101 1,101 

16,921 216,876 - 3,661 9,369 - 2,176 249,003 
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27 Financial Risk Management (continued) 

Interest rate risks (continued) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Next  Up to 3  3 - 6  6 months  1 - 5  Over 5  No specific

As at 31
st

 Dec 2019 day  months  months  to 1 year  years  years  repricing Total  

£'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  

Liabilities

Customer accounts 38,891 71,985 25,790 42,179 39,258 2 669 218,774 

Accruals and deferred

   income - - - - - - 1,059 1,059 

Lease liability - - - - - - 588 588 

Other liabilities - 1,471 - - - - 206 1,677 

Subordinated debt - - - - 5,750 - 2 5,752 

Shareholders funds - - - - - - 21,153 21,153 

38,891 73,456 25,790 42,179 45,008 2 23,677 249,003 

Interest rate 

   sensitivity gap (21,970) 143,420 (25,790) (38,518) (35,639) (2) (21,501)

Next  Up to 3  3 - 6  6 months  1 - 5  Over 5  No specific

As at 31
st

 Dec 2018 day  months  months  to 1 year  years  years  repricing Total  

£'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  

Assets

Cash and balances at 

banks 10,740 - - - - - - 10,740 

Financial assets - 33,387 2,482 3,641 - - - 39,510 

Loans and advances to 

customers - 139,183 - - 2,839 - - 142,022 

Prepayments and 

other assets - - - - 1,256 - 375 1,631 

Property and 

equipment - - - - - - 170 170 

Intangible fixed assets - - - - - - 22 22 

10,740 172,570 2,482 3,641 4,095 - 567 194,095 
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27 Financial Risk Management (continued) 

Interest rate risks (continued) 

 

Charity Bank has the option to change the interest rate on its managed loans by giving 90 days’ notice to its 
borrowing customers. Charity Bank has the option to change the deposit rate on the customer accounts by 
giving 30 days’ notice to its savings customers. 

For loans and advances, if Base Rate were to fall from 0.75% to zero, the main group of loans that would be 
impacted are variable rate loans. The impact would be a reduction in interest received income of £1.2m p.a. 
(2018: £605k). There would be no impact on the income stream from fixed loans. 

For Charity Bank’s customer accounts, if there were an increase in Base Rate, management would review the 
bank’s rates and take appropriate action. For every 0.5% increase in Deposit Rate, the interest paid would 
increase by £489k based on the customer accounts open at 31st December 2019 (2018: £333k). 

Credit risk 

Charity Bank is exposed to credit risk, which is the risk that counterparties will not be able to meet their 
obligations as they fall due. Charity Bank is exposed to both credit risk through loans and advances to its 
customers, and wholesale credit risk from its treasury operations.  

Charity Bank uses collateral to mitigate against credit risk. Within loans and advances to customers, non-cash 
collateral is in the form of residential and commercial property. Collateral is independently valued on 
origination of the loan unless the loan to value of the collateral is less than 33.30% or for other exceptional 
reasons, in which case an informal valuation or estimate is accepted. The collateral is reviewed annually using 
indices or independently revalued in accordance with Charity Bank’s Credit Risk Policy. 

Some cash collateral is held by Charity Bank against a small proportion of its drawn loans. For 2019 this equated 
to 0.8% of the total loans and advances to customers (2018: 0.6%). No other credit enhancements are used. 

The main credit risk sensitivities on loans and advances for Charity Bank are as follows: 

• probability of default: a decrease in the internal credit score of 10% of all borrowers would result in an 
increase in the collective provision of £102k; and 

• loss given default: a decrease in the value of security of 5% across all loans would result in an increase 
in the collective provision of £70k, 10% would increase the collective provision by £151k 

 

 

 

Next  Up to 3  3 - 6  6 months  1 - 5  Over 5  No specific

As at 31
st

 Dec 2018 day  months  months  to 1 year  years  years  repricing Total  

£'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  

Liabilities

Customer accounts 13,717 59,776 21,771 37,407 37,752 2 505 170,930 

Accruals and deferred

   income - - - - - - 784 784 

Other liabilities - 922 - - - - 192 1,114 

Subordinated debt - - - - 1,000 500 4 1,504 

Shareholders funds - - - - - - 19,763 19,763 

13,717 60,698 21,771 37,407 38,752 502 21,248 194,095 

Interest rate 

   sensitivity gap (2,977) 111,872 (19,289) (33,766) (34,657) (502) (20,681)
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27 Financial risk management (continued) 

Expected credit loss measurement 

IFRS 9 outlines a ‘three-stage’ model for impairment based on changes in credit quality since initial recognition 
as summarised below: 

• A financial instrument that is not credit-impaired on initial recognition is classified in ‘Stage 1’ and its 
credit risk is continuously monitored 

• If a significant increase in credit risk (’SICR’) since initial recognition is identified, the financial 
instrument is moved to ‘Stage 2’ but is not yet deemed to be credit impaired. 

• If the financial instrument is credit-impaired, the financial instrument is moved to ‘Stage 3’ 

The following diagram summarises the impairment requirements under IFRS 9: 

 

Significant increase in credit risk (‘SICR’) 

Charity Bank considers a financial instrument to have experienced a significant increase in credit risk when one 
or more of the following quantitative or qualitative criteria have been met: 

• The borrower’s account has been classified as high risk (being Out of Order, Full Watch List or Internal 
Watch List); and 

• The borrower’s credit score has fallen by at least 15% since sanction date (or 31 December 2015, 
whichever is later). 

Loans that are 15 days past due or more are classified as Out of Order, regardless of the results of the 
quantitative analysis. 

Definition of default 

A loan will be considered to be ‘non-performing’ or ‘credit impaired’ when it meets our definition of default – 
that is to say, the loan is 90 days past due, or the borrower is considered unlikely to pay without realisation of 
collateral. Unlikeliness to pay is assessed through the presence of triggers including a persistent breach of debt 
service cover, severe liquidity concerns, insolvency, loss of a significant contract or revenue streams, or 
significant management/governance issues. 

A loan may also be considered to be non-performing when it is subject to forbearance measures, consisting of 
concessions in relation to: 

• A modification of the previous terms and conditions of the loan which the borrower is not considered 
able to comply with; or 

• A total or partial refinancing of a troubled loan contract that would not have been granted had the 
borrower not been in financial difficulties. 

It may not be possible to identify a single discrete event which defines an asset as “non-performing” or “credit 
impaired”. Instead, the combined effect of several events may cause financial assets to become credit impaired. 
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27 Financial risk management (continued) 

Expected credit loss measurement (continued) 

Forward-looking information incorporated in the ECL model 

Charity Bank has used reductions in property values and a decrease in credit grade as a result of worsening 
financial performance of the borrower to introduce the necessary forward-looking element into the impairment 
methodology. 

Charity Bank uses a five-year horizon for business planning purposes. This five-year horizon is not used for the 
purpose of estimating the probability of default on loans, which instead is based on the lifetime of the loan. 

Maximum exposure to credit risk 

The following table contains an analysis of the credit risk exposures of financial assets for which an ECL 
allowance is recognised. 

 

 

Loss allowance 

The loss allowance recognised in the year is impacted by many factors, as described below: 

• Transfers between Stages 1 and Stages 2 or 3 due to financial instruments experiencing significant 
increases (or decrease) of credit risk with a consequent of a ‘step up’ (or ‘step down’) between 12-
month and lifetime ECL; 

• Additional allowances for new financial instruments recognised during the year and well as releases for 
financial instruments derecognised in the year; 

• Impact on the measurement of the ECL due to changes in PDs, EADs and LGDs in the year from regularly 
refreshing the model; 

• Impacts on the measurement of ECL due to changes made to models and assumptions; and 

• Financial assets derecognised during the year and write-offs of allowances related to assets that were 
derecognised during the year. 

The table on the following page explains the change in the loss allowance between the beginning and end of 
the year due to these factors: 

 

 

2018

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total Total

12-month ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Cash and balances at banks Gross carrying amount 16,924 - - 16,924 10,782 

Expected credit loss (3) - - (3) (42)

Carrying amount 16,921 - - 16,921 10,740 

Financial assets Gross carrying amount 49,617 - - 49,617 39,523 

Expected credit loss (7) - - (7) (13)

Carrying amount 49,610 - - 49,610 39,510 

Loans and advances to customers Gross carrying amount 156,393 20,346 2,915 179,654 142,553 

Expected credit loss (42) (250) (337) (629) (531)

Carrying amount 156,351 20,096 2,578 179,025 142,022 

Other assets Gross carrying amount 1,366 - - 1,366 1,383 

Expected credit loss (7) - - (7) (10)

Carrying amount 1,359 - - 1,359 1,373 

Loan commitments Gross carrying amount 48,390 - - 48,390 44,785 

Expected credit loss (11) - - (11) (8)

Carrying amount 48,379 - - 48,379 44,777 

2019
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27 Financial risk management (continued) 

Loss allowance (continued) 

 

 

Other movements comprise of adjustments based on the ICAAP stress scenarios which incorporate macro 
economic forecasts. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Loans and advances to customers impairment 12-month ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Expected credit loss at 1 Jan 2019 43 237 251 531 

Loans drawn and recognised 12 2 1 15 

Loans repaid and derecognised (2) (2) - (4)

Write-offs - - (147) (147)

Change in credit risk 36 (32) 226 230 

Transfer between stages

- Transfer to Stage 1 35 (35) - - 

- Transfer to Stage 2 (80) 80 - - 

- Transfer to Stage 3 - (6) 6 - 

Other movements (2) 6 - 4 

Expected credit loss as at 31 Dec 2019 42 250 337 629 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Non lending financial assets impairment 12-month ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Expected credit loss at 1 Jan 2019 65 - - 65 

Financial assets purchased and recognised 35 - - 35 

Financial assets sold and derecognised (11) - - (11)

Write-offs - - - - 

Change in credit risk (72) - - (72)

Transfer between stages

- Transfer to Stage 1 - - - - 

- Transfer to Stage 2 - - - - 

- Transfer to Stage 3 - - - - 

Other movements - - - - 

Expected credit loss as at 31 Dec 2019 17 - - 17 
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27 Financial risk management (continued) 

Loss allowance (continued) 

 

The following table further explains changes in the gross carrying amount to help explain their significance 
to the changes in the loss allowances as above: 

 

 

Other movements comprise of arrangment and legal fees being transferred to the carrying value of the loans. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Commitments impairment 12-month ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Expected credit loss at 1 Jan 2019 8 - - 8 

Commitments approved and recognised 7 3 - 10 

Commitments drawn and derecognised (6) - - (6)

Change in credit risk - 1 - 1 

Transfer between stages

- Transfer to Stage 1 - - - - 

- Transfer to Stage 2 - - - - 

- Transfer to Stage 3 - - - - 

Change in model - - - - 

Commitments not proceeding (2) - - (2)

Expected credit loss as at 31 Dec 2019 7 4 - 11 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Loans and advances to customers 12-month ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Loans and advances to customers at 1 Jan 2019 124,659 16,747 1,147 142,553 

Loans drawn and recognised 48,941 729 307 49,977 

Loans repaid and derecognised (16,214) (1,683) (959) (18,856)

Interest charged 5,516 880 166 6,562 

Write-offs - - (144) (144)

Transfer between stages

- Transfer to Stage 1 2,055 (2,055) - - 

- Transfer to Stage 2 (7,479) 7,479 - - 

- Transfer to Stage 3 (240) (2,158) 2,398 - 

Other movements (845) 407 - (438)

Loans and advances to customers at 31 Dec 2019 156,393 20,346 2,915 179,654 
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27 Financial risk management (continued) 

Loss allowance (continued) 

 
 

  

Credit risk by asset class 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Non lending financial assets 12-month ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Non lending financial assets at 1 Jan 2019 18,280 19 - 18,299 

Financial assets purchased and recognised 14,182 - - 14,182 

Financial assets sold and derecognised (1,930) (19) - (1,949)

Transfer between stages

- Transfer to Stage 1 - - - - 

- Transfer to Stage 2 - - - - 

- Transfer to Stage 3 - - - - 

Other movements - - - - 

Non lending financial assets at 31 Dec 2019 30,532 - - 30,532 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Commitments 12-month ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Commitments at 1 Jan 2019 44,785 - - 44,785 

Commitments approved and recognised 37,662 200 - 37,862 

Commitments drawn and derecognised (31,552) - - (31,552)

Transfer between stages

- Transfer to Stage 1 - - - - 

- Transfer to Stage 2 (380) 380 - - 

- Transfer to Stage 3 - - - - 

Commitments not proceeding (2,705) - - (2,705)

Commitments at 31 Dec 2019 47,810 580 - 48,390 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Loans and advances to customers at amortised cost 12-month ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Good quality 142,018 6,727 - 148,745 

Satisfactory quality 12,929 8,860 - 21,789 

Lower quality 1,446 4,759 1,145 7,350 

Below standard - - 1,770 1,770 

Gross carrying amount 156,393 20,346 2,915 179,654 

Expected credit loss (42) (250) (337) (629)

Carrying amount 156,351 20,096 2,578 179,025 
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27 Financial risk management (continued) 

Credit risk by asset class (continued) 

 

 

 

 

Charity Bank uses an internal credit grading method considering financial, quality of income, qualitative and 
general factors. 

The table below categorises the levels of credit risk, this is determined separately for each asset. 

 

 

Age analysis of past-due but not impaired assets 

The table below shows the age analysis of past-due but not impaired risk assets. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Non lending financial assets 12-month ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Investment grade accounts 30,532 - - 30,532 

Non investment grade accounts - - - - 

Impaired - - - - 

Gross carrying amount 30,532 - - 30,532 

Expected credit loss (17) - - (17)

Carrying amount 30,515 - - 30,515 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Commitments 12-month ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Good quality 43,461 380 - 43,841 

Satisfactory quality 4,349 - - 4,349 

Lower quality - 200 - 200 

Below standard - - - - 

Gross carrying amount 47,810 580 - 48,390 

Expected credit loss (7) (4) - (11)

Carrying amount 47,803 576 - 48,379 

Credit risk Internal credit grading Investment grading

Good quality A, B1, B2 Investment grade

Satisfactory quality C1, C2 Non Investment grade

Lower quality D, E

Below standard F
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27 Financial risk management (continued) 

Past-due but not impaired 

 

Charity Bank held security that fully covered the past-due but not impaired values. 

Security against past-due but not impaired 

 

Analysis of impaired loans and advances to customers 

Refer to note 13 for a detailed analysis of impairments. 

Credit exposure by sector 

  

The above sector analysis includes cash and balances at banks, financial assets, and loans and receivables. 

A proportion, 10% (31st December 2018: 6%) of Charity Bank’s total financial assets was to high quality financial 
institutions, the majority of which had external ratings of between A- and AA+. 

 

31
st

 Dec 31
st

 Dec

2019 2018

£'000 £'000

Neither past-due or impaired 178,436 141,395 

Past-due

Within three months 26 11 

Between three to six months 23 - 

Over six months but less than one year 18 - 

Over one year 6 - 

Total past-due 73 11 

Impaired 1,145 1,147 

179,654 142,553 

31
st

 Dec 31
st

 Dec

2019 2018

£'000 £'000

Neither past-due or impaired 559,594 446,888 

Past-due

Within three months 425 86 

Between three to six months 2,750 - 

Over six months but less than one year - - 

Over one year - - 

Total past-due 3,175 86 

Impaired - 1,717 

562,769 448,691 

31
st

 Dec 31
st

 Dec

2019 2018

£'000 £'000

Banks 18,197 12,041 

Corporates 39,866 35,874 

Government 9,752 3,649 

Loans and advances to customers 179,025 142,022 

Other 2,173 564 

249,013 194,150 
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27 Financial risk management (continued) 

Liquidity risk 

Charity Bank is exposed to liquidity risk. The liquidity policy is reviewed at least annually by the ALCO before 
being reviewed by the Risk Committee, with final review and approval by the Board. 

The liquidity policy requires that sufficient HQLAs are held in a form and at a level which reflects prudent 
banking practice and regulatory criteria to meet funding requirements under normal and abnormal 
circumstances. In particular, under internal policies the required levels of HQLAs in approved investments are 
required to be higher than the minimum levels determined by prudential regulation. 

Currency profile 

As at the year-end, Charity Bank was not exposed to foreign exchange risk. 

Instruments held for trading 

None of Charity Bank’s financial instruments are held for trading purposes and no trading book is held. 

Hedging 

Financial instruments are not held for hedging purposes. 

Market price risk 

Charity Bank is exposed to market price risk. Charity Bank’s investment portfolio consists of two distinct parts. 

The first part consists of investments in approved debt securities, principally high quality securities issued by 
the government or central Banks of a European Economic Area member state, or securities issued by 
multilateral development banks. These investments represent Charity Bank’s policy to invest in HQLAs in 
accordance with regulatory requirements.  

The second part, being the balance and representing liquidity that is over and above that held as HQLAs, is 
invested mainly in funds investing in debt securities. 

Both these sets of investments are subject to market price fluctuations in response to interest rate expectations 
and Charity Bank is therefore exposed to potential gains or losses on these investments. But the resulting price 
exposure is mitigated by policies requiring high credit rating for the holdings and their having relatively short 
maturity profiles. 

This exposure to the risk of adverse market price movements is mitigated by Charity Bank’s ability to sell some 
or all of its holding of a fund. For every 1% fall in market prices, the value of Charity Bank’s financial assets 
would fall by £374k (2018: £373k). These losses would be recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income as they are classified as FVPL in accordance with IFRS 9.  
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27 Financial risk management (continued) 

Categories of financial instruments 

The table below represents Charity Bank assets and liabilities carrying amounts, classified by the categories as 
defined in IFRS 9. 

   

Fair values of financial instruments  

Set out below is a year-end comparison of carrying values and fair values of all the Charity Bank’s financial 
instruments by category. The fair values are determined as stated below. 

  

 

 

 

 

31 Dec 31 Dec

2019 2018

£'000 £'000

Financial assets

Cash and balances at banks 16,921 10,740 

Financial assets at FVPL 37,376 33,387 

Financial assets at amortised cost 12,234 6,123 

Loans and advances to customers 179,025 142,022 

Other assets 1,359 1,373 

246,915 193,645 

Financial liabilities

Customer accounts 218,774 170,930 

Other liabilities 1,471 922 

Subordinated debt 5,752 1,504 

225,997 173,356 

Carrying value Carrying value Fair value Fair value

31st Dec 31st Dec 31st Dec 31st Dec

2019 2018 2019 2018

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Financial assets
Cash and balances at banks 16,921 10,740 16,921 10,740 
Financial assets at FVPL 37,376 33,387 37,376 33,387 
Financial assets at amortised cost 12,234 6,123 12,119 6,103 
Loans and advances to customers 179,025 142,022 188,141 149,859 
Other assets 1,359 1,373 1,359 1,373 

246,915 193,645 255,916 201,462 

Financial liabilities
Customer accounts 218,774 170,930 218,774 170,930 
Other liabilities 1,471 922 1,471 922 
Subordinated debt 5,752 1,504 4,277 1,409 

225,997 173,356 224,522 173,261 



The Charity Bank Limited ANNUAL REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER 2019 

 

64 
 

27 Financial risk management (continued) 

Basis of determination of fair values 

Cash and balances at banks: these consist of cash held in hand and balances held with other banks. The carrying 
amount of the cash balances is deemed to be a reasonable representation of the fair value. 

Financial Assets at FVPL: these comprise of OEIV which were reclassified from available-for-sale financial assets 
on implementation of IFRS 9. The basis of estimating the fair value of these assets is by ascertaining the market 
value as at the balance sheet date from quoted prices. As these financial assets are measured at fair value, the 
fair value is equal to the carrying value. 

Financial Assets at amortised cost: these comprise of financial assets which were reclassified from available-
for-sale financial assets on implementation of IFRS 9. The basis of estimating the fair value of these assets is by 
ascertaining the market value as at the balance sheet date from quoted prices. 

Loans and advances to customers: these comprise of loans and other facilities granted to non-bank customers. 
The fair value is derived using a discounted cash flow technique. The discount factor is derived using observable 
market rates for similar products which are then adjusted for liquidity and other premiums based on the 
characteristics of Charity Bank’s portfolio. 

Customer accounts: these comprise deposits made with Charity Bank by all depositors. Fair value is calculated 
based on the present value of future payments of principal and interest cash flows. Given the majority of 
customer accounts are considered to be at current market rates, the carrying value generally approximates 
their fair value.  

Subordinated debt: as at 31st December 2019, there are two types of subordinated loan notes in issue. Both are 
long-term debt liabilities.  

One loan note is convertible at the request of the note holder into preference shares, which in turn Charity 
Bank automatically converts into ordinary shares, on the basis of one share per £1.00 of loan note.  

Whilst shareholders have the right to receive a dividend when one is declared, if a loan note holder converted 
the loan note into shares, they would no longer receive the coupon rate in the loan note. Subordinated notes 
are valued using a discounted cash flow technique. The discount factor is derived using management’s best 
estimate of what the market rate would be for a debt instrument with similar characteristics taking into account 
what the primary market is in which such instruments would be traded.  

During 2019, Charity Bank issued a placement of up to £5m in new five-year subordinated loan notes with 
CITR which qualify as Tier 2 capital. These loan notes are not convertible into shares and carry a flat coupon of 
1% gross per annum, payable quarterly in arrears. Investors in these loan notes are able to claim CITR on their 
investment in the bank. 

Fair value measurement recognised in the statement of financial position 

The following tables provide an analysis of financial instruments for Charity Bank that are measured subsequent 
to initial recognition at amortised cost and fair value through profit or loss. These are grouped into Levels 1 to 
3 based on the degree to which the fair value is observable:  

• Level 1 – fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets 
for identical assets or liabilities. 

• Level 2 – fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included 
within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly 
(i.e. derived from prices). 

• Level 3 – fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for 
the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).  
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27 Financial risk management (continued) 

Fair value measurement recognised in the statement of financial position (continued) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Level 1 Level 2 Level  3 Total

As at 31st December 2019 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Financial assets

Amortised cost

Loans and advances to customers - - 188,141 188,141 

Financial assets 12,234 - - 12,234 

Fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets 37,376 - - 37,376 

49,610 - 188,141 237,751 

Financial liabilities

Amortised cost

Customer accounts - 218,774 - 218,774 

Subordinated liabilities - - 4,160 4,160 

- 218,774 4,160 222,934 

Level 1 Level 2 Level  3 Total

As at 31st December 2018 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Financial assets

Amortised cost

Loans and advances to customers - - 139,621 139,621 

Financial assets 6,123 - - 6,123 

Fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets 33,387 - - 33,387 

39,510 - 139,621 179,131 

Financial liabilities

Amortised cost

Customer accounts - 170,930 - 170,930 

Subordinated liabilities - - 1,504 1,504 

- 170,930 1,504 172,434 
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27 Financial risk management (continued) 

Capital risk (unaudited) 

Charity Bank’s Capital Resources and resulting capital ratios at the year-end were as follows: 

 

 

The CET1 ratio measures a banks CET1 capital against its risk weighted assets. The leverage ratio is a non-risk-
based ratio which aims to ensure that a bank’s assets are in line with its capital levels. For Charity Bank the 
leverage ratio is defined as Tier 1 capital as a percentage of total assets before impairments (including a 
percentage of on and off-balance sheet exposures). 

For Charity Bank, the leverage exposure is defined as being total assets plus 10% of its committed loan offers. 

28 Post balance sheet events 

In March 2020, the UK began to see an increase in the number of people testing positive to COVID-19, which is 
causing widespread disruption to financial markets and normal patterns of business activity. The Directors 
assess this event to be a non-adjusting post balance sheet event. In view of its currently evolving nature, the 
Directors are unable to reliably estimate the full impact of its financial and other effects but continue to assess 
the business as a going concern. Please see the Directors’ report, pages 19-21 for further details. 

 

 

31
st

 Dec 31
st

 Dec

2019 2018

£'000 £'000

Tier 1

Prudent valuation impact (37) (33)

IFRS9 Transtional relief 117 131 

Intangible assets (1,101) (22)

Ordinary share capital 12,373 12,077 

Retained earnings 3,405 3,327 

Share premium 4,563 4,359 

Total Common Equity Tier 1 capital (CET1) 19,320 19,839 

Additional Tier 1 - - 

Total Tier 1 capital 19,320 19,839 

Tier 2 capital

Subordinated loan notes 3,374 1,266 

Total Tier 2 capital 3,374 1,266 

Total capital resources 22,694 21,105 

31
st

 Dec 31
st

 Dec

2019 2018

£'000 £'000

Risk-weighted assets 141,784 121,812 

Leverage exposure 253,690 199,147 

CRD IV capital ratios % %

CET1 ratio 13.63 16.29

Leverage ratio 7.62 9.96
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Country by country reporting 

The Capital Requirements (Country-by-Country Reporting) Regulations 2013 came into effect on 1 January 2014 
and place certain reporting obligations on financial institutions within the scope of the Capital Requirements 
Directive (CRD IV). All of the activities of the Bank are conducted in the United Kingdom and therefore 100% of 
the total income, profit before tax and tax paid as well as employee figures disclosed in note 7 are related to 
the United Kingdom. The Bank has not received any public subsidies. 
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Independent auditors’ report to the directors of The 
Charity Bank Limited 

Report on the audit of the country-by-country information 

Opinion 

In our opinion, The Charity Bank Limited’s country-by-country information for the year ended 31 December 2019 has 
been properly prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the requirements of the Capital Requirements 
(Country-by-Country Reporting) Regulations 2013. 

We have audited the country-by-country information for the year ended 31 December 2019 in the Annual Report. 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs (UK)”), including ISA 
(UK) 800 and ISA (UK) 805, and applicable law. Our responsibilities under ISAs (UK) are further described in the 
Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the country-by-country information section of our report. We believe that the 
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Independence 

We remained independent of the company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit 
of the country-by-country information in the UK, which includes the FRC’s Ethical Standard, as applicable to public 
interest entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 

Emphasis of matter - Basis of preparation 

In forming our opinion on the country-by-country information, which is not modified, we draw attention to the 
relevant note of the country-by-country information which describes the basis of preparation. The country-by-country 
information is prepared for the directors for the purpose of complying with the requirements of the Capital 
Requirements (Country-by-Country Reporting) Regulations 2013. The country-by-country information has therefore 
been prepared in accordance with a special purpose framework and, as a result, the country-by-country information 
may not be suitable for another purpose. 

Conclusions relating to going concern 

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which ISAs (UK) require us to report to you 
when:  

● the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the country-by-country 
information is not appropriate; or  

● the directors have not disclosed in the country-by-country information any identified material 
uncertainties that may cast significant doubt about the company’s ability to continue to adopt the going 
concern basis of accounting for a period of at least twelve months from the date when the country-by-
country information is authorised for issue. 

However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, this statement is not a guarantee as to the 
company’s ability to continue as a going concern. 

Reporting on other information  

The other information comprises all of the information in the Annual Report other than the country-by-country 
information and our auditors’ report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information. Our opinion on 
the country-by-country information does not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit 
opinion or any form of assurance thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the country-by-country information, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the country-by-country 
information or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify an 
apparent material inconsistency or material misstatement, we are required to perform procedures to conclude 
whether there is a material misstatement of the country-by-country information or a material misstatement of the 
other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report based on these responsibilities. 
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Responsibilities for the country-by-country information and the audit 

Responsibilities of the directors for the country-by-country information 

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the country-by-country information in accordance with the 
requirements of the Capital Requirements (Country-by-Country Reporting) Regulations 2013 as explained in the basis 
of preparation in note 2 and accounting policies in note 1 to the country-by-country information, and for determining 
that the basis of preparation and accounting policies are acceptable in the circumstances. The directors are also 
responsible for such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of country-by-country 
information that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the country-by-country information, the directors are responsible for assessing the company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern 
basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the company or to cease operations, or have no 
realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the country-by-country information 

It is our responsibility to report on whether the country-by-country information has been properly prepared in 
accordance with the relevant requirements of the Capital Requirements (Country-by-Country Reporting) Regulations 
2013. 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the country-by-country information as a whole is free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and 
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this country-by-country information.  

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the country-by-country information is located on the FRC’s 
website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditors’ report. 

Use of this report 

This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for and only for the company’s directors in accordance with the 
Capital Requirements (Country-by-Country Reporting) Regulations 2013 and for no other purpose. We do not, in 
giving this opinion, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report 
is shown or into whose hands it may come, save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing. 

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 

Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors 

London 

1 May 2020 
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